10

11

12

13
14

15

16

17
18
19
20
21
22
23

24

25

C38AAFLOC : Hearing

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

______________________________ x
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District Judge
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(Case called)
THE COURT: So this is Professor Fagen. Good
afternoon. i
MR. FAGEN: Good afternoon.
' THE COURT: We have had a lot of submissions on the

lissue of the ekperts' reports, how the reports were prepéred

=énd methodology the opinions. In short there's a Daubert
Hchallehge by the City to the opinions that Professor Fagen

- would like to give in this case.

‘The opinions in the gimplest form address two isgues.

In the simplest form one is the Fourth Amendment issues but
- then there was reason for suspicion for the stops and to do-

that he worked with the universe of 2.8 million UF-250s which

is the form that police officers use to record the basis for

‘'making a stop. And then he also gave opinions with respect to

disparate treatment and those use the UF-250s but in a
different way. So that's the first big divide and T want to
talk about that for a moment.

With respect to the Fourth Amendment issue, the UF-250

has what's called a side one and a side two. We're going to be

talking about that a lot. And side one hag the question -- and
I quote, "What were circumstances which led to stop?" And the

police officer can check at least one box but could check more.

"And on side two of that form there are other questions and one

of them is called Additional Circumstances/Factors and the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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directs the officers to check all that apply. So it was

Professor Fagen's study of the 2.8 million UF-250s that led to

“his opinion.

4 With respect to the opinion on the Fourteenth

Amendment issue, the alleged disparate treatméht, I am not sure
I am right about this but the only part of the UF-250 that'st"i
particularly, important is the box that says "race". And in

that box the choices are "Whiter, "Blaék", "White Hiépanic",

‘"Black Higpanic", "Asian Pacific Islander",'“Ameri¢an

Indian/Alaskén-Naﬁive". That opinion doesn't turn at all on
the boxes abdut the circumstances leaaing to the stop or the
additional circumstances. it only has to do with thé race and
maybe the crime. It's a box that says, specify which
felony/penal iaw misdemeanor‘is suspected. Léading to some
extent i¢ broken déwn with that in ﬁind but it does not depend
on the sQ¥called coding issues. |
Solwe have two different sets of opinions in a way and
the city attacks both for different‘reésons. I think it's
alﬁafs helpful to know the Couré's initial thoughts. It‘heips
you focus-your'arguments; And I will gay that with_respect to
the Fourteenth Amendment opinion on this alleged disparaté
treatment, it's the easier of the two. The city essentially
has one big attack and the one big attack is that Professor
Fagen did not use as a benchmark the race sﬁspects in crimés.
The City thinks he should have. The City thinks théré's_data

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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.on the race of suspects at least in a high percentage of

crimes, not 100 perdent but a lot of crimes. The plaintiffs,
actually, think that there's no good data with respect to the

race of suspects. It's not good enough that there is a

‘percentage where the race is actually known. Thére's a

percentage where.the race is'Suspeéted and there's a percentage
where we have no ideaoﬁ'the race.

And there is some selection bias maybe when the race
is identified. And for a hoét of reasons the professof made
the decision not to use that as a benchmark but he had many

other ideas of benchmarks to extract his opinion from the data

‘he had. And I said I would share with you my initial

impression. My initial impression is he is using credible

' méthodéldgy. He is qualified in the field and he should be

allowed to give the opinion éverything else is

cross-examination. Nothing really much more to be said. I am

cértainly willing to have the:City have some oral argﬁment here
if only for the record but maybe in the hope_of-cohvincing me
bﬁt.as of now I ém‘inclined tollet that part go forward.
That's the easy part.

| With respect to the Fourth Amendment c¢laim, I have
very little criticism with Professor Fagen but I have some big
questions. And that ig, and I don't speak lightly when I know
every word.I speak is on the record, but what choice is there?
We havé‘2.8;mi11ion stops. The only data we have on those 2.8

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 :
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million stops is what the police officer decides to check off.
Its accuracy is, obviously, -questionable but there's no other

datai We, obviously, cannct have 2.8 mini trials. We,

obviously, don't have the time for that, don't have the staff
' for that, don't have the ability for it. It would shut down

_ the police department. Every officer who made a stop over the

last nine fearélwould have to come to coﬁrt and describe all
the things that were in his mind. 8o the only way one could do
a study of the reasons for those stops is on the form that the
City éréaﬁed. That's the only data wé_have is the form the |
City created and the form that the City uses itself to analyze
the appropriateness of its actions with respect,to_étOPS.andi
frisks. ASo i-donft think we have any choicé but to accépt the
UF-250s as the starting point.

Then the only tact was with the coding. How did the

profegsor, who I am not sure of this but I don't think.is a

lawyer but, certainly, not a judge and certainly not a jury,

doesn;t look like 12 people to me. He looks like one, so he
not a jury, not a judge. Is he a la@yer? No, not a lawyér.
How does he decide the.notion of what is justified, what is
unjustified and what is'indeterminate? How does he do that?
Well, his methodology was to look at thé case law. And,
clearly, one couldn't:look at all cases that all judges all
over'the State of New Yérk are writihg oﬁ stops and frisks that
too is impéssiblé. So he used some. Some were New York Court

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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of Appeals, some were the Second Circuit, some were the federal

7 distriét court and some were.the New York lower courts. And he
- reads those cases and puts their holding in a parenthetical and -
- draws out from that holding the guidelines of what courts have
'accepted as a basis for reasonable suépicion.' The City then

looks at some cases and questions his interpretation of those

cases.

And I've looked at the long, long chart that's part of

' Ms. Grossman's declaration. It's really four different charts.

And I think we're going to be spending some time this afternoon
on fhe four different charts to see if there's really all that
much diSagréement. And tdrthe extent there is, how materiai is
it? Because in one or two caseskmy view is that even if the
City is right, for example, that the Fernandez_cése comes out
different than the Francis cése maybe it's, certainly,.a higher
court, Certainly, four years laterAbut it's a trivial
difference in the 6utcome of the statistics.  So even if one -
corrected bne or twd of therstandards to be drawn from the
cases it wouldn't change very mﬁch.r

And when I look at the last of the City's four charts
which was only eight cases, I didn't think‘thé City Wéuld
_neéessarily write out its interpretation of ﬁhe case over.his
intefpretation of the case. Aﬁd, of course, thé plaintiffs.

came back and said the same thing and wrote a brief'saYing the -

‘City is relying on a dissent. The City is relying on the fact

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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ﬁhat the Secénd Circuilt hasn't decided a sert issue. The City-
thié, ﬁhe City that, but it's not S0 ciear that the holding as
described by the professdr at least_Wéé-wrong.

And the question is, is there or was there a better
waf to‘do that? Instead of Professor Fagen, who is not a

lawyer, judge or jury, deciding what the factors are that would

justify a stop should he have asked the Court to do that before

‘the coding? I don't know that that would have been acceptable

to the City either. Should the City have appointed a neutral

master to read the cases and decide the coding? Maybe. Should

we have asked the jury whose 12 nonlawyers are far less

qualified than Professor Fagen's reading those cases to decide

what the factors are? Surely not. So, again, I'm not sure

there was any other way to get at .that. The case law method

was a good method. He tries to say, let's extract from the
case law what factors justify a reasonable suspicion stop and
which don't. And, of course, the cases aren't consistent.
That's another.problém. Certainly, lower courts are never
consistent until the highér courte get ahold of it. And.
circuits. differ aréund the country than the Supreme Court
bécause they're final, not because the&'re right, correct,
everybody. - So that's the way it is.

So, again, I am nof éntirely~éurell understand what
the City would have wanted. Once we have to agree that the
UF-250 database is the only way to go, I am hot entirely sure

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 '
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what the real quarrel with this methodology is.

Now, another tact the City has is that he made a
coding orror, fairly big coding error and that effected the
outcome by_many percentage points, maybe éight and he correotedr

it. He realized the error. He oorrected'it. The City said,

~

we're prejudiced. This is too late. It's not fair to us.

Well, I would understand that argument if our trial was
scheduled for Aprilrof 2011. It is not, sadly. We have these

Daubert motions. We have c¢lass certificate motiong. We have

limine. I don't have a trial date and I don't know when it is.

I wish I did know when the trial date is but I know it's not

" next month. I know it may not be in.2012. So I am not

‘entirely sure what. the prejudice is. The City has months and

months to adjust to the correction which, frankly, was

 graciously made. He realized it was in error, corrected his

statistice or figures, totals and percentages. It is what it
ig. It's corrected.

So those are some of my initial thoughts. I haven't

reached a thought yet as to whether to allow this but I am

somewhat mystified as to what the choices are given what I've a
just said is the background of the matter, how you loock at 2.8
million stops other than with the very system the City has

creatéed. It's not a perfect system, clearly, but from the data

that the professor put in front of me, I can see that the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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police officers in my opinion are just checking more boxes and

they'fe checking the ones that I think will defend any stopping

that doesn't apply. So we're seeing a xise in furtive moments

apd_we're seéing a rise in hiéh crime areas and, frankly, it '
doesn't matte: that‘it's a.high crime area. It's just a good
thing to checké So I QOh‘t.think that anybody is saying the
forms are, particulariy,‘accurate but there ig nothing else we
have. So those are sohe preliminary thoughts. |
Given that it's the City's motion I guess we should-

begin to some extent -- this is going to sound vague -- with an

‘oral argument that may address some of the points I made or it

may address some of the points the City wants to make to

_highlight in their briefs. A lot of-papér here. I have read a

1ot of it but it doesn't hurt to distill it down to your key
point and theﬁ'allow the plaintiff's lawyeré a chance to
respond to you and then I may have some questions for Professor
Fagen and you may too and that's why he is here as‘a witness..
So that's I guess the order in which wé're going to progéed.

MS. GROSSMAN: Thank yoﬁ, your Honor .

Well, I think the first issﬁe abéut the UF-250 is the1 
oﬁly way to gbi There is no other better choice. I tﬁink that
just becausglthere‘s no other choice doesn't meén that-you have
to'accept'the methodology that is flawed in hany respects.

THE COURT: Let's pause here. How could you study 2.8

-million stops other than through the UF-250s37

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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MS. GROSSMAN: Study for what purpose? To make a
decilsion about-the unconstitutionality of thé'stops?
"THE COURT: To analyze whether the stops are justified

under reasonable suspicion standard. How would you do that

~other than by studying the 2.8 million UF-250s?

MS. GROSSMAN: But the purpose of the UF-250 form is
not to establish ;—

THE COURT: I'm not asking you that. That's not my
question. You reélly have to focus in on the question. How

else could you propose analyzing 2.8 million stops to see

. whether there's a problem in terms of reasonable suspicion

being the basis for a stop? Is there any way to study 2.8

million stops?
"MS. GROSSMAN: I don't see a way. And the reason why
I don't see a way is when you think‘about'hearings that have

been held before you, your Honor, on the igsue of reascnable

"suspicion look at how fact intensive --

THE COURT:. Absolutely right. That's why I am asking
the question. Can you think of.any other way -- |

MS. GROSSMAN: No.

THE COURT: -- seem fo me that's quite a concession Qﬁ
your‘part. I am not saying that negétively but I am saying you
therefofe agree with me that if it'suto be done, if one is
supposed'to look at.all 2.87million we have nothing but the
UF-2508. We_can't have a suppression type hearing which is

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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what I do, you are right. You said look at the hearings held

- before you. It usually comes up in a criminal case and

somebody hoves to suppress saying the.stop.and essentially the
arrests are bad and I spend hours, three hours or five hours

taking testiﬁony from the police officers,-briefing, argument .
and I either find there was a basis or not. And if it was no
basis I suppress the evidence received. If there is no trial

the indictment is dismigsed. That happens once. in a while, not

. very often but it happens and it takes three to six hours for

one and that is your point. So that's why I said‘respectfﬁlly ’

"that was quite a concession. You are saying there is no way to

look at 2.8 million, period. That's your answer.

MS. GROSSMAN: ‘That's my answer.

THE COURT: But it's not an answer I can'accept. I
can't do thet. Therefofe, we are a back to the UF-250, B8O we
have to start with the preposition that there's no'alternative.
The database we have is the universe of 2.8 million UF-250s. :
Now we can go from there.

MS. GROSSMAN: This is the first time this particular

‘question has been represented on that issue and that from my

perspective and from what.I am looking at as a-lawyer I am not
en-expert.‘ I am using argument. I am trying to use what I

know. But for my own uﬁderstending is it doee'not appear that
there's another way. But I would like to have an opportunity‘
to give thought to that,ito get back to your Honor about - that

SOQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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because it's a very serious guestion.

THE COURT: It's a véry'serious question. It's the
one that's been'keeping me up nightsrlosiﬁg, a lot of sleép,
saying to myself if it's not the 2.8 million UF-2508, what-is
it? I, obviously, cahnot have 2.8_million_three hour hearings
and everybody know that. I understand it. So we can't go the
one by cone hearing. If yoﬁr ahswer would be a sampling which I
know in another context, how many could we reasonable have that
would be a viable sample? There are two experts here who know
a‘lot'about sampliﬁg, I assume. Doctors Fagen‘and, was-it
Smith?

MS. GROSSMAN: Yes.

THE CQOURT: And they know much more than I do but I
suspect it's also more than could be done with live hearings.
It is just not bossible, I think, to do enough; ‘You have them
with enough different circumstancés, enough different scenafios
that you could then extrapolate from some reasonably small

sample the rate of either unjustified or indeterminate stops.

I don't think you could do it. That's my strong guess if you

were to do the sampling, also impossible.

So then you'd be back to statistical samples. You
would be ﬁsing lesgs than 2.8‘samplés but you would still be
uging UF-250s. So I suggest to you we are all stuck with'the‘
UF—ZSO but, yes, you could consult afterwards and if you want
to sﬁggest én altefnative of interest, go ahead, but I:suspect

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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we'd be past that. There is no altefnative.

MS. GROSSMAN: Let me just faise an issue that is of
very, it's a very'significant issue because if you are going to
allow the use of the UF-250 daﬁabase to be used to establish
reasonable suspicion -- |

THE COURT: Well, you put it a different want than I _

~would. I am starting a different proposition. I am saying,’

how do we examine whether there's a problem? Whether there are

stops, too many .stops that are not based on reasonable

- suspicion as defined in the law? How do we go about the

inquiry? And the only way I can ﬁhink of is to use the UF-250s
data becaluse there's 2.8 million of them. We could sémple
database but it's still the database. That's all we've gotten
to so far. I thinklit has to be recognized that we staft‘with
the UF-250 databasei B

MS. GROSSMAN: So, the.problem Ehat I raise that I
think is somethihg that the Court really has to give Serious
thought to is the burden of'proof here. And if you're in a way
allowing'the UF-250.database‘and opinions by Professor Fagen
that says "X" number df'stops -- |

THE COURT: You are going way past me. I didn't want

to get to the second problem yet which is how we analyze the

data. 'I want to see how we get to agreement_that this ig the
only data we can work with, then we get to the guestion of once
we agree on that did he do it right or did he make bad coding

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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decisions leaps that he shouldn't have made. He is not a

.lawyer. All the rest of the argument, but you want to first:

start with the overriding propositioh that with 2.8 million .

gtops to deal with we don't have a choice except for the UF-250

database, then you could tell me all the things you did wrong

in using that data but I want to see if we can agree that there’

wag no chbice'to use that data.
| MS. GROSSMAN: Well, I still -- and I don't mean to
belabor the point -- but I dd still think that whate#er.if.--
you are right. Professor Fagen opines on UF-250s and says X
numbers are unjUStified and you lock at the case law.and you
say, okay, that's reasonable. Let's accept that as.trﬁe, at
the end of day ﬁhat never means'anything about the actual
Constitutionality about all of the stops.

THE COURT:. If I agree with that but if you were to

have an individual suppression hearing on everyone of the 2.8

" million stops you would learn much more than is on the UF-250

form. The officer wOuld testify. He would say, I don't have

time to write everything down.  I checked off the boxes. But
now let me tell you everything I remember or everything that's
in my memo book or whatever, but we can't do it. There's no
way to have 2.8 million hearings. ‘We have gone over this and I
don't think you could do it by sampling if you had to have:live
héarings; We?have géne over the same grounds. I underétand
your point. —Bﬁt if I had one hearing, ten hearings, each one

SOUTHERN DISTRICT‘REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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would take hours. Each officer,. if he had notes in his memo

book or something, might be able to add information to the form
but none of that's possible. It's not practical. 1It's not

possible. The City itself uses the UF-250 for its quality

control and to make sure there is integrity in the process of

these stops.

MS. GROSSMAN: The question is what does this_daté.in
that opinion go to? What is it theré:to prove?

THE COURT: We'll talk about the Fourth Amendment
élaim. I've .already put the other thing aside. |

MS..GROSSMAN: The guestion abqut-the
constitutionality of the stops én a wide scale basis, what
question does that.go to? Goes to the Monell guestion wheﬁher
fhe City has pattern and practice of suspicionleés Stép,
whether theyf£e on notice. |

THE COURT: Correct.

MS. GROSSMAN: And so even if we accept that Professof

Fagen believes that "X" number are insufficient,

unconstitutional and that the Court analyzes the case laws and

agrees that his interpretation is correct, that doesn't

translate into.the'police-department being on constructive
notice about the wide scale proplem of unconstitutional stops.-
THE COURT: That's fine. But it's an arguméﬁt way |
down the road that I don;t need to have a hearing on. The
hearing today is a Daubert heaﬁing. Let's put the credentials

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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~aside because I am satisfied. We're not here for that but you

are attacking the methodology. That's fine. I want to take
that in small steps. The first step is the universe of data.

And I am fairly convinced there was no choice. You didn't pick‘

" the wrong universe of data that's doable. You said, may I

consult after the hearing with my -expert and if we have

anYthing else td offer we'll let you know. Putting aside that,

I said sure. Now, I don't think we have any alternative. This

'is the data the City keeps. 1It's the way it records the basis

for stopping people. There has to be a.basis.' We dbnft have a
country where you can just stop anybody, hopefully. So you
have to have a reasonable suspicion.and the law defines the
parameters of reasonable sﬁspicion.
.MR. CHARNEY: Your Honor, I would submit that in fact
while:the City has this.
THE COURT: Has this?
 MS. GROSSMAN: Has the UF-250 forms. It requires the
officer to prepare the UF-250 forms. There are orders and
audit procedﬁres to reviéw. I would submit that thelCity
really doesn't under Monell have'é requiremént, an ob1igation
to do that. |
THE COURT; I agree but if does. it doesn't have an
obligation. It chose to track. It chose to_docﬁment for good
reason. I ﬁhink thefefs a lot of reasoﬁs people document a lot
of things. One is to be able to defend itsélf. One.is for -

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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transparency, a lot of good reasons to document what you do but
it chose to do it. We have this data. It's available. 1It's

not perfect data because I don't trust that the person who

entered the data necessarily was writing down what happened, so

- to sgspeak, but that's a different issue. This is the only data
~we have. We're back to the.beginning. So I want to get past

that now. Let's assume that the only data we have, now we are

ready for your attacks on how he manipulated the data, how he

dealt with the data. What was wrong with it?

MS. GROSSMAN: fes.- We set out all our concerns in
f .

THE COURT: I said you could distill it in oral
argument.

MS. GROSSMAN: What Professor Fagen'did was he took,
he loocked at ten boxes on a cértain part of the form.

THE COURT: Side one and side two.

MS. GRbSSMAN: Okay. Side one. We'll use that
annotative form that we attached. That ﬁight be very helpful.

| THE COURT: Yes, Irhave it. 4 |

MS. GROSSMAN: So what Professor Fagen and his team
did was looking at side one of the form, they locked at the
check-off boxes, the ten boxes under what were'circumstaﬁcés
which led to the stop and he looked at on side twq --

THE COURT: On side two?'

MS. GﬁOSSMAN: And thén he locked on side two of the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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form at somé Qf the boxes checked off there. And what he did

was he came up with a method to put any combination into

certain buckets7

THE COURT: Right. Three buckets, "justified",
"econditionally justified", "indeterﬁinate".
MS. GRQSSMAN: _That's right.-
" THE COURT: Well, no. I was wrbng. "Justified",
"unjustified" and "indeterminate".

MS. GROSSMAN: Sorry, your Honor. Now you can lock --

there's many, much more information on the form from which to

determine reasonable articulable suspicion. And Professor -

Fégen's acheme doesn'trat'ali consider that and address that it
omits that bécéuse he can't address-the_fofm;-_So-accepting — -
THE COURT: Because he can't what?
MS. GROSSMAN: Because the information on the form wase

too unwieldy and toco complicated to do as thorough a search on

.whether the forms really showed reasonable articulable

suspicion. So he simplified the classifiéation.

THE COURT: What are you referring to in particular?
I thought one of your criticisms is he didn't consider the
handwritten notes. |

MS. GROSSMAN: But there's much ﬁore iﬁformation.'

THE COURT: I thoughﬁ that waé one big onel

MS. GRCSSMAN: It was.

THE COURT: Let'é falk about that one for a minute-r

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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cause I know he didn't. What percent of the 2.8 million have

handwritten notes? I elther didn't find that in your brief or

migsed it. Do you know?

MS. GROSSMAN: I don't think the plaintiffs, Professor”

,Fagen ever set .that out.

THE CbURT: So you don't know either.

MS. GROSSMAN: We don't kﬁow'because lock at every
field on that form that's Héndwritten, entries everywhere,

"THE COURT: Where are there handwritten entries?

MS. GROSSMANi There are fields throughout the form
that require haﬁdwritten entries! You can start at the top,
the address or intersection of a cross streét of stop. Someone
has to(ﬁut in information about the location of the stop.
There's information in thét location of that stép. We said in
our brief high-crime area.

THE COURT: But high crime is on the chart, page two.

MS. GROSSMAN: That's right. But, your Honor,
consider this. Pfofess§r Fagen's scheme when he puts -- when
he considers a form,.a CJ, conditional justified stops on side
one of,the-form;'his scheme says CJ on the side-oné, plus a

field in the ACAF field like high crime area, he says that

- should be a justified stop. However, there are many stops that

take place in high crime areas where the high crime area box is

not checked off. There are thousands of those that could

potentially exist. But Professor Fagen's scheme did not

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, pP.C.
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consider that and it's a huge omission and it really renders

thig in combination with many other concerns we have had. It

-renderg the whole classic model flawed, fatally flawed.

THE CQURT: But there is a problem with that too and

. that's the definition of high crime area. We've gone over this

before. Is the whole precinct a high crime area?

MS. GROSSMAN: That's right, your Honor. You are
absolutely right. And Professor Fagen imposes his own
definition of high crime area which is not necessarily
consistent with the definition of high crime area.

THE COURT:. I thought his is with the officer checked

.the box on side two.

.'MS. GROSSMAN: He doesn't give consideration to whatj
the other information in the form tells you about whether the
stop took place in a high-crime area. So_that omits, that
deflates the number of justified stops.

THE COURT: Well, if the officer doesn't see fit to
check itf obviously, that wasn't his reasonable suspicion.
That's the problem. . The officer_is supposed to check off boxes
that form the basis of his suspicion. If herdidn‘t check Ehat;
off this is high crime afearthen I guess that wasn't the reason
he checked the box.

MS. GROSSMAN: That doesn't mean the stop under the
circumstances becéuse of the totality of éircumstance test and
you know that if an officer came into a hearing and didn't

' SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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check éff highrcrime area but he gave téstimony abbu# and I am
sure you have had tons of hearings where the paperwork aoesn't
reveal everything done by the testimony. y |
THE COURT: You are right. I couldn't possibly have’
2.8 million hearings.

MS. GROSSMAN: C(Consider your own experience. How

~often is it that évery_detail of a stop or an encounter is

actually-in the paperwork? ‘If you find that's reliable in ‘that
Way‘then there's really no‘basis to think that these forms with- |
a check-off box giﬁes you éverything that happens. You know
that's not there.

"THE COURT: You are right. 'i know that it's not
everything that's happened butlI know it's sufficient to the
péliée department when they have to,anaiyze the quality
control, they have-to work with this too. There‘s a lot of
stops béing made. We can't do them one by one. I cannét
question every officer and every stop for hours on details. We
have to live with‘the'data we have.

MS. GROSSMAN: The purpoge of the audit is .not to

- egtablish reasonable suspicion.

THE COURT: It's to see whether on audit basis there a
high incidence of suspicion sﬁuff. rThey're worgied ﬁoo.
Police department wantgs to get this right and so they're
checking, reviewing to make sure that there's not a high
percentage of stops but don't have the basis and suspicion, the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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reason it was suspicious. Otherwise what's the audit fof?

| MS. GROSSMAN: OK. Then if the auditors are looking
at the form and let's start with what happens. It goes thfough
process‘and‘supervisor is.looking at the form. It goés through
channels. it's entered into a database. Eventually, audits
are done there are samples and if the questioﬁ ig while you
look at -- if I were a precinct commander and I know that high
crihé area and I see that there's a furtive movement and I know
that even the high crime area box is nét checked off, I know
this isra high crime area. That's what this is we've sent him
out there. . I know‘that if those two equal reasonable
suspicion, there was_reaéonable suspicion. Thé fact that the

motivation of the officer and what he checked off may be

‘reflected in the form or not doesn't mean it wasn't there. And

so I think that that presents a challenge here in coming u@
and -- in accepting Professor Fagen's methodology.

THE COURT: Figure 13 of the Fagen repdrt somewhat
troubling chart which seems tp'show that.high crime aféa is the
basis for the stop iﬁ all areas regarding how high the crimé
really is in that area. So it's being used or cheéked at the
same rate across all the various areas.

MS. GROSSMAN: It's a very good point and let me

‘address that. What Professor Fagen assumes is the way that

crime is addressed to the department and how high crime area is

used. There can be a low precinct crime, a low crime rate but,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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there can be hot spots and high crime areas within. But
Professor Fagen's analysis is are not locking at those hot -
spots. He ig looking at data that's precinct wide.

THE COURT: That's right.

MS. GROSSMAN: So his analysis and his odd methodé

‘don't take into account the spikes in crime and what we're

taiking about here. It hides it and maske it and that's a real
problem when the reality of policing you can look at it --

THE COURT:  I think you uge precincts when you want'to
and don't use pregincts when yvou don't want to. The fact is
that there is an overall crime rate in thesé various areas and.l
it just definitely is lower in some areas an higher in others.

Essentially it's the same rate in all five of these divisions.

"It tells me something about the officers' use of the phrase

"high erim rate" is a safe bet to put on the court. I don't
think this form is‘perféct but it's the only data we have.‘
| MS. GROSSMANf-VThere actually is no box on the szide
two.

THE COURT: I realize that. .It haé areas. It has
high incidents of reported offense of typelgnder circumstanéeé

but I suspect the officer in the field translates that to high

‘crime rate because I don't think he could probably know.

MS. GROSSMAN: That is an assumption.
THE COURT: On my part? We've just proved it with
David Floyd. I am saying that you can't expect the person on

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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* the beat to know what's the burglary rate or the pickpocket

~ rate or one the gun rate or whatever of which I now stopped

this person. - They know in their precinct where there méy be a’
high'Crime area but they.can't know all crimes on all corners,

MS. GROSSMAN? You'vé just proven my point, your
Honor. Using David Floyd as an example, just because there
might be three block radius and maybe not does not mean th@t-
ten blocks away --

THE COURT: Then'you are ﬁpﬂto preéinct—wide data.

MS. GROSSMAN: No.

THE COURT: It's much larger than thé exact area of
the crime under investigation. So I am sorry but the side two
box that says area has high incident of reported type under
investigation is franslates té high crime rate.

MS. GROSSMAN: Well, thaﬁ's soméfhing that's implicit
assumption built into is, that's very weighty and it's very
complicated and to put that to the jury that's going to be very
confusing. I don't know‘hoﬁ you could éver put that in a jury
charge and the concerns of --

THE COURT: I don't know what you mean by puttinglit.
in a jury charge. And the exact words are Whatrthey are. It
will be either be checked off or not. I am missing the point.

| MS. GROSSMAN: '¥ou are even suggesting fhat;—-

THE COURT: Your real'point is that even if the
officer didn't check it out. if it's a known high crime area

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, -P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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it should count.
MS. GROSSMAN: That's one of my points.-

THE COURT: That's problematic'because you get into’

'defihing what-you think is the high crime area, the whole

precinct, the hot spot, is it the corner type of crime? We
want to be as objectivé as possible but what the boxes allow

you to do is to stay objective. Once you start with the areas

- where you can write in something it becomes less objective.
|| Now you have to interpret what somebody wrote. So SOmebody

puts, mavbe they’ll put the Soundview section of the Bronx.

Maybe they'll put a street corner. I don't know what théy'll .

put exactly. Maybe they'll just put the borough. That's why I

"leave it to the objective boxes that the officer actually

picked. Oh, well.

MS. GROSSMAN: Your Honor, just to make clear
Professor'Fagen doesn't even use -- he uses last month's data.

THE COURT: What does that mean?

MS. GROSSMAN: ‘It'means he's making a comparison, he

is not using -- when the stop happens he is -- his analysis

. looks to and relies upon'old data from the previous month that

ién't necegsarily correlated --

_THE COURT: I don't know what you are talking about.
i thought I'm talking about his coding of the UF-250.

MS. GROSSMAN: We are, but it's related because yQu ,
are accepting the notion that a high crime area is, that there

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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is no high ¢rime area in the -- I am gsorry. Let me think that
through a little bit more and I'll get back to that.

THE COURT: Okay. One of the tacks is, certainly, he

_doesn't consider the f£ill in the bank'pafts of the form such as'

fhe location. That's one of the criticisms.

MS. GROSSMAN: Yes.

THE COURT: What else does he not consider besides the
location,‘the address/intersectibn or cross streets?

MS. GROSSMAN: Well, in addition as we've also set out

in our papers given Professor Fagen's scheme, if a box that's

checked "other" on side one with no other box checked on side

-one but it has a box checked on side two he has categorized

- that as an‘indeterminate, I believe.

THE COURT: That's correct. That's my notes too. Any

time side one is checked only with the box "other" doesn't

matter what's on the second side. He considers it

indeterminate.
| Mé. GROSSMAN: So I know that I don't know that

anyone's done aﬁy study of narratives,but'Professor Fegen did
not consider the narratives that would have populated the field
"other"-to really get a sense of --. |

THE CCURT: What field are you talking about?

MS. GROSSMAN: Leok on side one and then look down six
boxes. It says other reasonable suspicion of criminal activiﬁy
specified, the last box on the left side.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.,-
(212)_805—0300
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THE COURT: Yes.

MS. GROSSMAN: Are there reasonable conditions,
criminal activity specified. Professor Fagen did not --

THE COURT: Oh, well, that was the one I was really

asking you when I say do we know how many have the narrative,

‘you really meant there when it says "specified". I have no

idea. Maybe somebody knows how man& of these.did have a
handwritten explanation of the other. My guess is very few but.
I don't know that. |

MS. GROSSMAN: It could be. I-don'f know but I do
know that there are other areas in the. form, there are othér
locations in the form‘that Professor Fagen did not include in
his classification scheme.

THE COURT: Like?

MS. GROSSMAN: Look at "other™. Let's'go down to -
"other", "scars", ﬂtattods"[_etc.,.

THE COURT: I got it.

MS. GROSSMAN: . And other scars. I guess my point is

that you can look through this entire form. There are many

fields.

THE CCURT: I know but age, height, weight is after
the stop. That could not be the basis of reasonable cOndition.
That's what you fill in after you stop the person;

MS. GROSSMAN: I guess my point is that all the
information tell you somethiﬁg.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 ' :
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THE COURT: No, they don't. That's precisely what I

am disagreeing with. I am saying filling in a person's agé,

~height and weight is after the fact.

MS. GROSSMAN: I am not talking --

THE COURT: I kndw'but thére are on the forms. There _
are other areas on the form that haveinothiﬁg to do with -
reasonable suspicion. Was suspect arrested? Even that

although you will talk about that later in a different context

one of these is a suspicion for the stops, so many of the

pecple, many of the lines on this form don't relate to
reasonable suspicion. |

MS. GROSSMAN: Your Honor, with all due respect, 1T
think that's taking a very limited view of the‘form.

THE COURT: Really? Now, you are usually a very good

~advocate. I am sure you don't mean that. Tell me how in the

name of pexrson stopped haé to do with reasonable susﬁicion.
| MS: GROSSMAN: - Not the name. |
THE COURT: So do I have to put you ﬁhroﬁgh on every
one of thbse? You know that many of those boxés don't relate
to reasonable suspicion. |
MS. GROSSMAN: .Let's lock to gide two.

THE COURT: Let's stay with side one. That's there

after the fact. You've‘got_to concede that you don't care

about hair, eyes and build. That's afterwards.

MS. GROSSMAN: Physical force used.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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THE COURT: Okay. I am happy te talk about the ones

that you want to talk about_but let's just be real about the

ones that don't count. If physical force was used indicate

type. I don't think you mean that one either. Handcuffing
suspect? -That's after the stop.
MS. GROSSMAN: Well, I think we have a fundamental

difference of opinion about what the form means. And if you

- are going to take -- if your understanding of form is that the

only --
THE COURT: I didn't say that. I just said point to

me what you think goes to reascnable suspicion. I haven't

picked anything. I am asking you the questions. You help me.

What do you think on this form goes to reasonable suspicion
other than the guestion, What were the circumstances which led
to the stop?

MS. GROSSMAN: Your Honor, how about a trial that we

had just last week with you, when we had an individual who was

very upset and sﬁafted kicking the car and the officer exited
the car and he goes to try to remove hef off the corner and in
the middie Qf that attempt there}s physical force used to
remove her.and she kicks him and that is ?ért of the basis also
for arrésting for aséault) And so -- |

THE COURT: But we're not having an arrest case here.

- We're having a stop, question, frisk case. " Let's stay with

that.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212). 805-0300 '
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MS. GROSSMAN: There's so many fluid situations in an
encounter thatlit ig very hard to be so precise. |

THE COURT: I know but I have a stop, guestion and
frisk cése.' That was a false arrest case. Well, tried, I
might add. So, but here we are on stop, question and frisk
case, 80 let's stay with that.

MS. GROSSMAN: Wéll, time of day. Time of déy could
also relate to the patterns. And it all matcheé with the
information. Ypu have to lock at a lot of the informaﬁion.
It's time of day, the offense charged that could give insight
into the suspicion of suspicious bulge.

THE . COURT: Say that one again slowly.

MS. GROSSMAN: Criminal possession of a weapon. If
you have a particular offense charged which is_information
that's handwritten onto the form, misdemeanor suspected.

THE CGURT: Right. &nd if the pefsoh were to write
down poéseséion of a weapon, what do you think that would go
to? . _

MS. GROSSMAN: Well, it's ciearly going into what he
thinks he is seeing. |

. THE COURT:'_True. But that's'coveréd by the téh
boxes, there is know doubt about it._VCarrying objects in plain
view used in commission of crime.

MS.'GROSSMAN: We‘re'backing into a purpose of if the
form that was not there. That's not what the purpose of the

‘SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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form was for. It's to true try to put information into the
form. 1It's not -- the purpose of the form isn't to make, to

look at just one part of the form and say, I can't look at the

-Whole.

" THE COURT: I agree with you. I just want to know
what oﬁher portions you think should have been studied in this
analysis and that go td.the topic of reasonable suspicion and
you've pointéd out one at the moment, the time of daf. Okay;
that is one. Then you said which felony but'exactiy the
example yvou gave ig covered by the boxes clear. You said if
the pérson's arrested for possession of a wéapon or for
éuspicion of péssession of weapon then the officer couldn't.

help but check carrying objects in plain view, or suspicious

~bulge so I am still trying to look for_the other parts that you

think he.should have considered and didn't now the biggest one
you have is location. I guess you still feel Veryrstrongly -
that when a-person writes an addrééskintersection oY Cross |
gtreet of stop that is really important to analyze because it
would have been able to be correlated with data..

MS. GROSSMAN: Let me make aﬁother'point. on side two
and, again} this wasn't part of Professor Fagen's report. We
didn't respond to it in that way. And we can éertainly look
back and give'more thought about what the other bbxes are to
respond to your questions sufficiently but jﬁst looking quickly
at the form's side two. Was person frisked? |

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: Okay;

MS. GRbSSMAN: T amwgoing to take you all the wa& over -
the right column at very top and you see the first box on the
right column says "refusal to comply". Let's go down to:two,
to suspicious bulge object/(describe). Do yeu see that
suspiciousAbulge object it's the last'box on the right?

THE COURT: Yes.

MS. GROSSMAN: And it says "describe" So let's talk

'about the reality of filling out this form. Let's not only

think, did you only check off the box on the front° o let's
suppose there is a suspicion of crimine; possession of a weapon'
or‘there's some consideretion:that there ig a bulge and that
wag the basis for the stop. But, perhaps, the officer insteed
of putting the description on the front of the form pUt'it‘on
the back of the form. It's very hard to be s0 rigid‘about
where you put informatioﬁ aﬁd I think from the officer's
perspective, the key about this form is transparency. ‘Just
give thehinformation and if it's nbt‘perfect,'that's okay. ' As
long as the information is there as long as you'document the
stop someone can come backrto you.

VTHE COURT: I agree with the example you just gave is
there is a box cailed "wag the person frisked".

MS. GROSSMAN: But you are limiting that to was person
frisked. What could very.well have happened in the real world
that the officer didn't put the bulge that he thought he saw in

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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‘the front of the form but instead put it in that portion. It's

just an imperfeét system.

THE COURT: It's an imperfect world but it's not

unlikely that the officer would put it in the quéstion, Was the

person frisked.
MS. GROSSMAN: Your Honor, what causes an office tower
want to frisk someone when he sees a suspicious,bulge?

THE COURT: I'm only saying he's got that choice on

page ore in a question that's not limited to frisk. It says

very clearly what were the circumstances which led to the stop?

On the side two it says, Was the person frisked, yes or no? If

"yes", must check at least one qu. That's when the persoﬁ
woula check "suspicion bulge" there. |

MS. GROSSMAN: Well, "muét'check at least one box".

THE COURT: Yes. If-"yes" there may not have been a
frisk, We got "stop aﬁd frisk". The fiont talks about what
are the basis for the stop.. This question is already the next
stép. Was the person ffisked? Yes. If "yes", check a box
please. Don't check a box if the pexrson wasn't frisked.

MS. GROSSMAN: I don't think that that reflects the_
reality of what happens on the street.

THE COURT: These people trained in using UF-250s.

They are not thatlhard. I hope our police officers can read

- this. They're trained to read a UF-250. They're trained to

£fill. it out.

 SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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MS. GROSSMAN: I think the form cannot possibly

'capture every single scenario.  It's too small a form. If your

‘Honor 1s suggesting that in the future we have to maintain

documeﬁts like this and then we are going to be subjected to
these kinds of cases whére we can't even defend then maybe we
should just put ten page formé together.

THE COURT: ‘Don't create a strawman and then knock it
down. I'm not saying what you shouid do at all, what the
police department should do. This is not a case where I'm ;
settihg a rﬁlé. I'm only talking about the data that has been
collected. Police departmént designed this form, I didn't.
The police department trains people in using this form. Ilam-'
sure that they get a lesson on how to £ill 6ut UF-250 and then
they fill out many of them over the course of their career. I
am just trying to read it in a logical way.

To say that it's not logical that they can read the

- wag person frisked, I'm not being in reality and in touch with

the streets, thé person is ﬁrained. The front says, why did
you stdp them? And the first page says, Was the person |
frisked? Ng. Then they.dOn't check any mére'b0xeé.
MS. GROSSMAN: I still have a problem with that one
and I don't like to belabor it. We have very limited time.
THE COURT: Way too limited. Well, we had some
scheduling problems but --
| MS. GROSSMAN: But when you think about the -- what

SOﬁTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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were the circumstances which led to the stop? 2And then going
on to gide two, Was person frisked? Those two are not mutually

exclusive. '"Exclusive" meaning that they -- you can check off

 "suspect". You can let me just look at these "suspicious bulge

_?object" described.

THE COURT: But you wouldn't if there was no frisk is

all I am saying. I take your point if there was a frisk the

person could check that off. And if Professor Fagen didn't

‘bother to look at that box he may have lost some data. I

understand but still that's only supposed to apply‘as a frisk.
-MS. GROSSMAN: Well, I think we just -- I mean the
game -- I take the same position with a lot of other .

information.. I mean, frankly, the check off boxes exist

: throﬁghout the form and Professor Fagen didn't even consider

those in the context of reasonable articulable suspicion. He

didn't include the handwritten entries and we understand why .

It's just that the form is just unwieldy and it doesn't

gound --

THE COURT: If the form is unwieldy that, certainly,

isn't the professor's problem. The form is the City's form.

‘The City designed the form. The City uses the form and we‘ve

already said this. is the only data we have fbr_2.8 million
stops. I think the piaintiffs would argue we're not thrilled
with the data but this is all that there is. We didn'trdésign-
this thing.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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MS. GROSSMAN: But you can't really force a

methodology that doesn't work with data that just doesii't get

-you to the place that ybu want to go. Ewven if it's the best

avallable for Professor Fagen --

THE COURT: No. No. that's the best for anybody
studying this. He didn't choose it over another. Look, I
started this whole coﬁversation saying what alternative did we
have for data? 'The answer is no alternative. This is the
data.  Then he wqus with the data and we have to respect and
listen to all youf attacks oﬁ the way he's worked with the
data. . But not his choice of data, not the design of the form,
those aren't his preblems.

- One problem you've point out is he chose not to pay

attention to certain parts of the form which you think go to

reasonable articulable suspicion. You've identified a couple,
not all the ones you've tried to but the address is one you've
méntioned ahd_I think that's about it.-

MS. GROSSMAN: "Other" on the front-of the form.

THE COURT: Where it says "specified" but my problem

~with that one is I have no idea how many people specify.

anythihg. I suspect it's long but I do know that..

MS. GROSSMAN: Is that the basis for an expert report

~ to come in?

THE CQURT: No. No. But if we were to learn that

only two percent of these forms specified anything under

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS:.P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10

11

12

13

14-

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

_ 37
C38AAFLOC o - Hearing

"other" then it's not a material error. I'd like to know how

many wrote something under the word "other"? That I would like

to know. I don't know what it would take to go back and figure

out .

Mé; GRdSSMAN: "I am not saying‘that lookiﬂg at one,
it's not just about one piece. It's collective and so0 it adds
up but I understand your pbint, your Honor.

Then again what other contraband was found? Deséiibe
the contraband and location. Demeanor of person after‘being
stopped. Remarks --

THE COURT: That doesn't gb to the reasonab;e

articulable sugpicion. That's after the stop. Why do you

bring that up? That's after the stop.

MS. GROSSMAN: Again, I agree with you. It is after

the stop.

THE COURT: So who cares? It can't relate to
reasonable articulable suspicion. The officer if he was
sitting here has to tell me what he noticed béfore the stop so
it doesn't matter.

MS. GROSSMAN: Let me go then to ;-

THE COURT: It doesn't métter what contraband was
found after thaﬁ. If you thihk it doesn't, that's very
interesting because the arrest rate is very low. The finding
of actual contraband is very 1ow."Apparently, randémized stops
do better than all of this which is quite interesting in terms’

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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of stopping millions of peopie for a-ver? low heel but you
didn't Want to go there. You should say we shouldn‘t be
looking at hit rate. Yet, you want me to look at was
conﬁréband found.

MS. GROSSMAN: That isn't, actually, what I meant .

THE COURT: That's how it came out. You want to know
waé contraband found. In other words, did we have a hit. Andr
?etanother context you.argued, jﬁdge, don't  look at the hit_

rate which is very low. It's five percent or six percent

_better -on randomized stop.

'MS. GROSSMAN: Let's go to the additional

circumstances faétor, check all that apply. Clearly, you would

.agree that that all goes to additional circumstances really to

the-stop.. And Professor Fagen, actually, didn't even do the
legai analysis regarding these boxes.to see would those in
combination with one another add up to feasdnabie arti;ulable
suspicion.

. THE COURT: if;nothings on side one.

MS. GROSSMAN: Right. And if "other" which is
represents hundreds of thousands of stops indeterminate
category, if there is an "other" checked off in the front --

THE COURT: I know.

MS. GROSSMAN: And then on the back he did not -- fhe
boxes could in combination add up to réaSOnable_afticulablé
suspicion.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: I agreé. That's one of the stronger facts
which -- |

MS.'GRCSSMANi That's pretty much what is left in the
indeterminaté.. | |

THE COURT: I need to talk to plaintiff's lawyers

-about that. That's an attack I understand.

MS. GROSSMAN: Well, then i am sorry for waStinQ ?ourf
time. I should have goﬁe right there. I apologize.

lTHE COURT: Is there any our poiﬁts that you do want
to make about the methodology and working with the UF-250 data?

MS. GROSSMAN: Just give me a second;‘ |

THE CQURT: Sure.

MS. GROSSMAN: As to classification I think that in

addition to what's in our papers those are pretty much the

arguments that we raise --

THE COURT: You had said on side one at the time of
the stop would be important but it's actuaily one-of‘the
additional circumstances on page two.i It does say "time of
day", "day of week", "seaéon";‘“corresponding to repofts“,r
"criminal acti;ities", one of the box one coﬁld check in
additional circumstances. So, actuaily, he did considér time

of stop. Not by the narrative entry under page one, "time of

stop" but on the box that says "time of day"} It is there.

It's the third box.

MS. GROSSMAN: And. that's ohly if it was checked.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: Correcﬁ. I understand. Okay. Did you
say there's more right now?
' MS. GROSSMAN: VOn the classification other than what's
in oﬁr paper and if you have any other questions that.you.would_
like me tc address I would be happy to do that. On the
regression I know you understand the_issue with the regression

but I would just like to point out that when you look at some

of the case law in employment discrimination cases and you look -

I think it's a New Jersey case regarding Driving While Black

case involving the state trodpers, it was very important in
look ét ﬁhe regression and the feliability of the regression to
iook at the benchmark and offending behavior identifying those
who are engaged in offending Eéhavior ig really critical. So I
would just -- I didn't a chance given the space constraints to
fully develop-thése érguments but I know that you could loock at
the cases‘and when youive congidered the employment
discrimination'cases, for hiringléase; for example, you don't
lock to you -- look to the qualified applicants to determine
whefher there's a discrimination in the hiring practiées. You

don't look to the population because not everyone in the

population is eligible.

THE COURT: But what Irdon't understand about that
argument is the apility to idehtify the race of those who one
suspects of haﬁiﬁg committed the crime. Sometimes we havé race
identification and sometimes-we don't.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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'MS. GROSSMAN: Yes.

THE COURT: How do we extrapolate from maybe the 50 or
60 percent maybelwe have accurate race data and the.40 percent
that we don't? o 7

MS; GRéSSMAN: Well, your Honor, I think that.there ig
some extrapolation that's done in many statistical analyses.

THE COURT: Given the source of the information on the
Caseé where we do have race data and the kinds of crimes where
we don'trhavg race data, I don't know that that extrapolation
would be fair.

MS. GROSSMAN: Well, when you __ let's look at there's
some'high crime pfecincts in some of our submiséions that we |
provided to you where for total criﬁes'the suspect déscriptions
are known at a highef rate than in others. And for all crimes
the réte'we know 62'pefcent of the suspects. And remember for
all crime remember also there aré'categofies of crime;

THE COURT: That's ekactly wmy point.

MS. GROSSMAN: The property crime is I.bélieve and I
could be wrong. I might not be éccurate but I believe that Ehe'
property crime has lower -- there are.lower'suspect
déscriptioné.' You know less of the suspects and théy're more
unknown. - But it doesn't mean that there;s no reason to believe
that the proportion of stops based on the infgrmationrwe know
about the. crime that's being committed and the demographics of
whoge committing the crime, there is né reason to think there

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
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is no evidence to suggest that the data wouldn't match. It

wouldn't be the same proposition.

THE COURT: I wonder if we have the burden of proof ‘on .

that if you think you can extrapolate from the 62 percent where

yvou have race information to the 38 percent where you don't, I
don't know what your scientific basis is for believing you can

just assume it would be the same ratio in the 38 percent

“unknown.

MS. GROSSMAN: Your Honor, to that ‘point I would say
Professor Fagen himself has relied on that kind of data. So
why is it okay in oné context but not okay in other_contexﬁ?
Maybe the question wasn't asked. Maybé it wasn't what the
plaintiff's attorneys wanted him to loock it at.

THE COURT: It was a question I was going to ask at
this hearing. I noticed that he didn't in one of his articleé,

maybe it was the Journal American -- Association he did at that

time.

MS. GROSSMAN: .And in the Attorney_Generalfslreport:
for Attorney General Spitzér at the time in 19959.

THE COURT: That's a long time ago. Mayberhe 1earned‘ :
from his errors.. Maybe,hé doesn't think it's valid any longgr..
That's a lot of years ago. 8o I think if I am going to have
any time left for the plaintiffs --

MS. GROSSMAN: Thank yvou for your attention.

THE COURT: Mr. Charney.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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MR. CHARNEY: Yeg, your Honor.

THE COURT: From the long conversation I've‘juSt had i
am trying to focus more on_the.methodology used to analyze the -
2.8 million UF-250s and, of course, thefe are some;problemé.
First of ali,_as you know there was one error that got
corrected. Secondlj, there's a whole question of coding
exﬁrépolating factors in cases whether he is the one who should

have made a determination. And then very importantly is, I

~guess, his decisgion not to consider any other spaces or boxeg

on these forms and why didn't he. Fourth, I've already asked
three questions. Another one would be why if nothing was
checked on éide one .did he decidé that that had to be an{-
indeterminate or, actually, I think an unjustified.if there is

ﬁothing on side one no matter what's on side two an in

determinate if the only check on side one is an "other". So

these are big decisions that were made that affect the
statistics a lot. 'And then to add to all the other questions,.

how vou can remember all those, I noticed ydu weren't taking

notes.

MR. CHARNEY: That was earlier.

TﬁE COURT: We could have is read back slowly but on
top of that now -- I may have lost my train of thought. Oh,

dear, there was one more. Well, I think I've forxrgotten the,
one more wasg about choice.
MR. CHARNEY: Well, I can try to take them in reversge

" SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS,_P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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order.

THE COURT: Yeah,'I just wish I remembered one more I
was'going to ask you but it's gone.

-MR. CHARNEY: I think I can address-very quickly the

question you had about --

THE COURT: Oh, I know. Does he have any idea of the

percentage of these forms that.actually specified the other

reason on page one, side one. Nobody seems to know whether

that's two percent of these forms or 20 percent of these forms.

I don't know.

MR. CHARNEY: Okay. On the point about the, how I

‘classified, the stops where the, only the circumstances on page -

two were checked off in additional_circumstances -~

THE COURT: He said that was unjustified. Nothing on

~side one.  It's always unjustified.

MR. CHARNEY: Just toc let you know that the universe

of stops that had that characteristic, in other words, were

only things on side two were checked off, I believe it was

something like 17, 000.

THE COURT: Oh, I remember that.

MR. CHARNEY: 20 and'BO.I_It's basically around one
percent of the 2.8 million scops that he looked at. So I think
with respect to whether or nof this would affect his analysis
either way --

THE COURT: Hold on. I know about 17,924 stops but I

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

44




10
11
12

13

14 .

- 15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23
24

25

45
C38AAFLOC Hearing

think he mischaracterized those 17,924.

MR. CHARNEY: I thought those are the ones where only

‘additional circumstances were checked off.

THE COURT: I think that's where there is at least one
gide, one conditionally. " I'1l tell you what I think. Thé |
17,000, at least one side one’conditionally justified
circumstances as.well as the side two édditional circumstances
I thought there were only 17,000.

MR. CHARNEY: If you had our Daubert opposition briéf
page 7, the paragraph in the middle. |

THE CCURT:V Oh, well, it doesn't matter. I see what
ycu mean. I take it if there's'nothing on gide one and there's

only additicnal circumstances on side two you are saying

- there's only 0.6 percent of that 17,924, so it wouldn't affect

the analysis. That's one answer on that question.

MR. CHARNEY: Now, you had the question about where

" they check "other" on side one and then check an "additional

circumstance" on side twc and that was labeled as, clasgified
ag "indeterminate". \

THE COURT: Right.

MR. CHARNEY: Professor Fagen can talk ﬁore about
this, about the otﬁerrcategory, obviously, "other" on its face
without looking at anything else doesn't tell you'anything_ycu
actually have to look at other things.

.THE COURT: .That's exactly the City's argument that it

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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says specified how many of them wrote out.
' MR. CHARNEY: He can tell you about that. I am not
gQing to try to --
. hE COURT:  Okay.
MR. CHARNEY: -- tell you how that works so we can
have hiﬁ answer that question.
With respect to the question had you about some'of

these other sections of the form where other information is

located, I think you already ansWered or you made one of my

pointg with respect to the time of day. It's actﬁally in the
form. I mean with respect to the location i would say much of
the same thing. And the reason being that, and I.think we put
some of this in our Daubert submissions_exhibit, police
officers are tfained véry extengively on how to £ill out these '
formg and the training manuals say Véfy explicitly for £hat_
gsection "check al; boxes that apply": So to argue that there.
are hundreds of thousands or tens of thousands of officers who
don't check off "high crime area" when it is a high crime area
doesn't seem like a very reasonébie assumption for the City to -
make especially since they haven't provided any data suggesting
that's the case. |
| The argument about the impact zone --

THE COURT: Let's not leave the location point yet,
If he had loocked at that box and it cdrrelated-it had to
pfecinct data because it says addressed/intersection, if one

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10.

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21
22
23
24

25

47
C38AAFLOC .~ Hearing -

had looked at every single address/intersection for 2.8 million

forms one would know according to Ms. Grossman whether'it's a

high crime area because of the precinct it's in or the hot spot

it's in or whatever.

MR. CHARNEY: I guess I would also refer back to the

analysis that you also pointed cut and showed us the chart that

- they used that stop factor in our view inaccurately often..,But

the other thing T wanted to say on this point of they may not

- check off "high crime area" when they should, an argument is

actually inconsistent with how the police department itself

'reviews the UF-250s because the head of their quality assurance

‘division when asked, how do you determine whether the stop was

based on reasonable suspicion, she'said, well, I look at'those
gtop circumstance boxes the same ones that Professor Fagen

looked at.  So to now come back and say, well, he should have

~ looked at more. That would have told you whether it was really

based on reasonable suspicion. They are essentially
criticizing their own review. process because ;heir review
process focuses on looking at the stop circumstance boxes and
so he is doing what ﬁhey do. And that actually --

THE COURT: Yeah, but that's not fair. They are not
reporting to be an expert ;n the lawsuit trying to prove the
constitutiohality of stops. . They are doing'a rough audit of
their officers to be sure that there isn't a high incidence or
suspicionless gstops. They're satisfied. They‘are'allowed to

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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put, design whatever tests they want. They've designed a test -
based solely on the boxes and if they're satisfied, enough -

books are checked that stops aren't suspicionless they move on.

They have a different purposge in reviewing these forms than you

do.

MR. CHARNEY: fhat's right. But I guess two things I
would say in response to that would be the first being,_; have
né idea how many stops where "high crime areé" was not checked
off, in fact in-ﬁhe city occurred a high crime area. I don't

know the answer to that question. I don't think anyone's told

us the answer to that question.

The other thing I will say is that I think it's
iﬁportant to keép in mind the purpose of Profgssor Fagen's
analysis and what he uéed that analysis; wﬁat obinion he formed
from Ehét énalysis. And I think you pointed itrout in your

sﬁmmary judgment decision. I think it's statéd'very clearly on

- page 55 of his report which is the fact that there's this high

number of stops that it's really hard to -- you-cankt --
looking at the face of the form you can't establish reasonable
suspicion but this is really not é good way, it's ﬁot an
affective way to moniﬁor and regﬁlate the constitutionality of
officers -

lTHE COURT: Are you saying you-ére not uging his
opinion to prove to a jury that "X" pércent of the stops were
uncbnstitutional? I need to know that because that's wﬁat_

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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" you've just articulated is a different argument. When say what

you just articulated was this was not a good method to monitor

or give notice or track, that's a different argument. Are you

also saying that it'proVes_"X" percentage of unconstitutional

stops?
MR. CHARNEY: We are using it to show a pattern and
practice of unconstitutional.stops and we are using it to show

becauszse we remember we have several theorieg of Monell

liability in this case, failure to monitor and supervise,

THE COURT: I understand the.sécond one. If you are
saying this isrnot a good'method,.fails'to talk about .
monitofihg-and training, fine, but for the first purpose --

MR. CHARNEY: We are using it to show a widespfead_
practice. |

THE COURT: So, for example, if he says there's

nothing on side one but four boxes are checked on side two or

three he calls that always.unjustified. Why? Should I ask him

or you but why ig that unjust;fied?

| MR: CHARNEY : You could probably ask both of‘us. It.
is our position and I kﬁow there's definitely_some case law to
back this up that -- I'll address it two ways. First of all,

again, I refer back to the fact that we're talking about a

small universe of stops. We say it's 17,000.

THE COURT: That's right. That is the nothing on side

one. Then I won't ask that again. Then what's the size of.the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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~universe with side one as "other"?

MR. CHARNEY: Well, a couple things that we need to

'keep in mind about that one.  Remember they're allow to check.

. a8 many boxes as they want on side one. So there are a

significant number of stops where "other" plus another side oﬁe
factor are checked off. ,A lot of times other plﬁs two other
side one factors checked off and there may be éoﬁe checked off
on the second page. 8o a lot of the stops where "others" were
checked ;— |

THE COURT: I was interested in only --

MR. CHARNEY: !"Other" by itsélf. That I would have'fo-
ask Profegsor Fagen. |

THE COURT: Okay. You méan the numbers of those?

MR. CHARNEY: = Yes, the numberé were --

TﬁE COURT: Okay.

MR. CHARNEY: And the, obviocusly, he has a lot to say

- about the handwritten notes in his decision, not to lock at

those whidh we submit.are baséd‘on very sound methodological
principles. |

THE COURT: All right. So maybe it's time to talk to
him but you haleanted to say one more thing about hot spots
or --

MR. CHARNEY: Oh, éure.

THE COURT: -- or impact zone.

MR. CHARNEY: The only other thing maybe just for the

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} 805-0300
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record because I think your Honor already hit the nail on the

head and we, obviously, agree with what you said, but

- Ms. Gxdssman claimed that with respect to that analysis about .

their uée of high crime.area doesn't necessarily correlate with
the crime in the area. 1In othef words,.they're uging it in low
crime precincts. They're using iﬁ in_ﬁigh crime. Ms. Groééman
made the point, well, you have to loock at smaller’geoéraphical'

areas. You have to look at little sections within a precinct.

He didn't do that. That's actually false. He did do that. If-

you look at his Déubert, the declaration he put in in

opposition to ﬁhe Daubert motion in Paragraph 19, as well as
Exhibit C of that declaration,'he does the saﬁe analysis at thé
censug track le#el-as'you recall froﬁ the day before the motion
is vefy, very small geographic area, usually a matter of city
blocks. And he léoked traffid and the crime rate and the use
of high crime area.as justification for stopsrin that censug
track and you can see the same pattern.

THE COURT: But that's in thé disparate freatment,

MR. CHARNEY: No, that's agtually‘another Fourﬁh_

Amendment opinion which I think, the last point I would like to

" make it's also important to keep in mind that Professor Fagen

has offered several separate opinions ag the Fourth Amendment.

THE COURT: I notice a couple of thing them do not

depend on this coding.

MR. CHARNEY: Your Honor is making my Jjob easier.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: Well, I noticed one. Certainly, one that

stood out wasg the percent of all stops that resulted in arrest,

‘nothing to do with coding and the summons and however often

force is used more likely to be used against Blacks and
Hispanics and Whiteslnothing to.do with the code.

MR. CHARNEY: Also this high'crime area analysisl
because he is just tracking how often are they using.it? Are
they using it when the crime rate is higher or‘when:it's low?

It's on a separate analysis and he uses that to opine that it's

'a very questionable indicator of reasocnable suspicion.

THE COURT: I know and I was focusing on the coding
issues.

MR. CHAﬁNEY: Okay. -

THE COURT: The other only other one you should defend

maybe before I get a chance to start taking testimony is the

f benchmark argument that Ms. Grossman ended with.

MR. CHARNEY: Okay. Well, I have a couple things we
can say aboﬁt that. I meanrmost of this is in our papers. The
first, I think, obvious one that we made upfront was that
because you have so much missing race data in the cfime éuspect
data if really would be statistically unsound --

THE COURT: Well, is the 62 percent accurate? Is the
data tﬁat‘s allegedly -- race in 62'pércent?

MR. - CHARNEY: But you have to extrapolate that to the
entire universe would create various -

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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THE COURT: i'm not askiné yoﬁ to extrapolate to the
60 to 38 unknown --
MR..CHARNEY: That's the data we Wére given. We can't
dispute it. |
THE COURT: So fo: this pﬁrposé you accept that for 62
percent of the crimes we do have race data? | |
 MR. CHARNEY: Yes. |
THE COURT: But what you say is we don't have race
data and thé other 38 pexcent would bé inappropriate to
extrapolate from the 62 to 38 and whykis that? _
| MR. CHARNEY: One being that we don't know what parts
of the City the 38‘percent are in. We don't know What‘types of

crimes the 38 percent apply to. And the reason that's

:important is because depending on the crime category the racial

demographics of a suspect differs greatly so there could be
serious selection by if you were going to extrapolate from the
62 to the hundred and the other piece of it is -- |

THE COURT: But he did that. He used that benchmark
in the past himself, right?

MR. CHARNEY: Well, he used -- so what he did in his
other studies;is‘he_actually used arrest data. He didn't have
access to the crime-data. and he will tell you that crime data

is superior when what you are trying to measure is the crime

‘rate in a particular locality. And that was, actually, what he

was trying to do here because what he is analyzing is are the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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stoﬁ patterns the NYPb driven by, asgs they say, crime? In other
words, because crime is highef here, we are going to go here?
Or is it thé racial composition of these particular localities?
And that is the analysis he was_doingf

So he locked at racial composition and crime xrate in

‘different localities and tried to asgsess what influences crime

versus racial composition were having on the stop patterns.

That's the analysis he was doing. And go he -- that's the

" reagscon he chose that benchmark. There is -- he has used it

many times. before. It's been Peer Reviewed. It's been

published. And to now suggest that it's so out of whack that a

Jury can't even hear about it is taking it way too far

THE COURT: All right. What I would like to do now is
have a five minute recess-and_then have Proféssdr Fagen take
the staﬁd and answer some of the Court's questions and if
anybody else wants to ask a few questioﬂs, we're not going to
have hours and hours of another deposition but if the lawyers
want follow-up, that's fine.

MS. GROSSMAN: Your Honor, I just want -- I don't

think the plaintiff addressed your question about the hundreds

of thousands indeterminate where there is an "other" checked

off on front with the AFs on the back and I just thought that

would be beneficial. That's one of our arguments.
THE COURT: Okay. I think he said he was always
indeterminate_if the bnly one checked on front side was

' SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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"other".

MS. GROSSMAN: Right. Now-——

THE COURT: Doesn't matter how many were checked.off
on side two if the only thing on Side.one wag "other" he aiways.
said wasg indeterminate. |

MS. GROSSMAN: But I just-didn't think plaintiffs
addressed the fact that the box is checked that supports
reasonable suspicion. |

.THE CQURT: That questioﬁ-is why did he codé it that

way if the only one on side one is "other" he didn't care how

many were on side two it's all indeterminate?

MR, CHARNEY: Cause we don't have any_reaéon to
believe and, again, this is why he'classified those based only
on the second page as "unjustified". We ddn'trhave anyrreason
to beliéve that if you only checked off the ones on side two
that wouldn't cdnétitute reagsonable suspicion;, so by adding
"other" to the mix, we don't know, maybe "other" gets you
there.

THE COURT: So your argumentrreally is that no métter
how many of these side tWos you check off they can't alone
create'reasonable-Suspicion.

MS..GROSSMAN: Because the case law which the City, of

course, goes into in- detail in its chart, none of those cases

. where they claim that additional circumstances alone establish

reasonable suspicion, there was always something else. There

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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wasg also one of the page one factorsg, there was a suspicious

'bulge, someone acting as a lookout. It was never just this is

a high crime area by itself or this is a time of day where --
THE COURT: But we are talking about multiple on side

two. So if on side two you-had a report from a victim and it's

‘a high crime area and it's at night and this were evasive

action, did you have all four of those which are all on side
two, why isn't that reasonable suspicion to stop somebody?

MR. CHARNEY: I guessg, again, I haven't seen any cases

- where that particular fact pattern when you have a combination

of only side two.factors.

THE COﬁRT: I disagree. I think there are many such
caées.

MR. CHARNEY: The other point again to go back té is
we're talking about 17,000.

| THE COURT: No. 17,000 was where --

MR. CHARNEY: You are talking about “6ther" plus.

THE COURT: Yes. Plus a whole talking about other on
the éide one and a whole combinatiqn on side two theoreﬁically.

MR. CHARNEY: I am not going to accept the defendant's

'estimate that there are hundreds of thousands of stops where

- you have "other" and "mulei.

THE COURT: Do we know or can we find out?
MS. GROSSMAN: Your Honor, we can supply you with
those numbers. We can't now but I can tell you from my

'SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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.preliminary look, they are hundreds, maybe 433,000.

THE COURT: That soundé pretty specific.

MR. CHARNEY: I guess to be cléar, aré we talking
about "other" plug one or more ACs or are we talking about
"other" and "multiple"?-

THE COURT: I don'’ t know. I'll find out.

MR. CHARNEY: No. So I take exceétion or I disagree
with the estimate that it's “other" and "multiple". It may be
"other" and "one or more”.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Let's take a break‘néw '
till five of four, about six minutes..

| (Recess)

THE COURT: So my additional question, Mr. Charney, is
this, when there is nothing on thg front in a combination of
circumstancés on gide two, you said oh, it is so small it
wouldn't change.the analysis. 1It's 17,000. It's 0.6 percent.
So I toock that to mean so if you want to eiiminafe that ox
whatevér, we can live with it. But once you do that you'Ve got
a problem because then can't be worse off if you check "other".

So now the front has "other" and the back, the second gide has

- "multiple". There's no point in telling me how small the

universe is that has "none" on thé front and "multiple" on_side
two becauge it's a slippery glope argument.for you if you are
willing to say‘oh; we can live with that. We'll recode.

MR. CHARNEY: You need to be able to figure out how

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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many have "other" on the front and "multiples" on the back.
THE COURT: Because you can't treat it differently
than you would treat none on the front. So the fact that such

a small universe of 17,000 which is only 0.6 percent, I think

- you probably are willing to say,. fine, recode it. Do what you

want. But you really can't because it has to'be'treated the

‘same as or worse than "other" on the front and "multiple" on

the back.

MR. CHARNEY: Sco if I understand correctly you just
want to make sure you are now talking about stops where "otherﬁ 
is checked én‘the front aﬁd then more than one addiﬁidnal --

THE COURT: We will get to the "one" or "more than
one" but for the sake of argument let's say more than one.

" MR. CHARNEY: And I guess my response to thaf‘is that
T don't know if the answer to the guestion is how many stops

fall into that gfoup and, again, if it is a very small number I

guess I would say --

- THE COURT: ‘Same problem. But if it's a very big
numbér and Ms. Grossman was talking about close to half a
million, now she may have been thinking when she said a_half a
millioﬁ, it was "other" on side one and only one other factor
on éide two but it's more than one on side two, then it's a
combinatibn'of factors. A

o MS. GROSSMAN: It was.the one or more.
-THE COURT: That's what he was afraid.of. He would

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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like you to separate the "one" and "more than one" because what
he is saying, his argument is no one factor on side two

standing alone has supported reasonable articulable suspicion

~in the case law. 7You are correct, when you have multiple.

factors you showed them your case chart. I don't think he

‘disagrees. If you have multiple factors, some case law would

support reaéonable guspicion.
With that, Mr. Fagen, c¢an we .ask you some questions?
‘MR. CﬁARNEY:_ If you are going to be referfing to ﬁhe
binder —; |
THE COURT: Sure.
JEFFREY FAGEN,
called as a witness by ﬁhe Plaintiff,
having.been duly swérn{ tegtified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMiNATION
BY THE CCURT:
Q. Professbr Fagen, you've beenrﬁresent'today throughout this
time we havé had oral argument . .You have heard my cdmments and
questions. You've heard the laﬁyeré' argﬁmepts. I do have:
some guestions for you. |
. Why did you decide that you would only look at the two
sectiéns where the.officer_checks boxes, namely, the one that
says wﬁat circumstances were the circumstances which led to

stop on side one and additional circumstances/factors on side

-two, why did you decide to only lock at those two pafts of the

'~ SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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form?
THE WITNESS: = And which spécific parts so, for

example, the question about the address or location of --

60

THE COURT: I;m doing that Yet. I am saying why did

you decide to look only at those portions I described on side

one and two. Why did you decide not to look at those things?

.THE WITNESS: We looked, the data that were most
consistently and completely available to us referred to those
two sections of the report. Some of the information in, for
example, there was box for the location of the stop. That
information was actually by the police department for some
years and by our staff for other years. Geo-coded so that we
could locate the exact spot on.the map where it took place;

So we did-know the locations of the stops. We used

the locations of the stops because in each of our analysis we

counted up thernumber'of stops that took place in a particular

area, then we took into account characteristics of those areas.

In one analysis we did it by the precincts and then in we did

it by the census track. So we did use the location information

because it was incorporated into that.
The other --
THE COURT: But not on our analysis justified,

unjustified and indeterminate to make that determination you

used only the boxes in two areas, side one. What were the

circumstances which led to the stop and side two, additional

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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circumstances/factors. You decided to consider any other

evidence on the UF-250 forms and I am asking you why.

THE WITNESS: Okay. There are detail codes available

for several of the categories that are checked off on side dne,
 For example, description of what -- I think there is a-

| description of what the bulge is and some other details about,

that relate to the box itself. And set aside the question of

- the other box for a second. Those are Vefy inconsistently and

N

often rarely completed. So we decided it wasn't enough'usablé' 
information in those boxes to make a systematic analysis.
Again, our gbal was to come up with something systematic and

reliable. With respect to the "other" we actually did look at

those.
| THE COURT: - You locked at ﬁhat?
THE WITNESS: The text stréam that was associated with
cs "6ther", with the circumstances "other". 2And it was filled

out quite often. When the officer did check off "CS other" it
was.on filled out. However, the information that's availabie,'
the notatioﬁs that were written, weren}t recordéd in a way
where the information.was useful to us. So, for example, we
would note things, I guess, I'd use the word "gibbefish“;‘

There'd be a letter "X, a very high percentage or a nunber of

" them where it said "NA", "not applicable" others that had

notations that we couldn't interpret like "XNE'". We had no

idea what that meant. Others that said "hanging out in the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C,.
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hallway". Others that said "trespass" which was a crime .but
that didn't help us ascertain what the basis of suspicion was
for that stop, the conclusion about a crime. Others said

Noitering” which was again a conclusion about a crime. 8o we -

 were unable to identify information in a sufficient number of

cases using those boxes where we could come up with a
gstatistically reliable estimate that would add more information
than what we'd already had. _

THE COURT: But you said high percentage of officers
who checked "other" actually did specify someﬁhing in wri?ing?

THE WITNESS: They did. But what was specified was
not gomething that was usable to us in making a systematic
analysis éﬁer that particular box to make-some additional
conclusion about the nature of that information.

THE COURT: ‘Well, that answers the questions about the
"other” box and specifying in writing, what the othef was.. But
let's go back to my initial question. Why did ydu decide not
to consider any of the cher boxes on the form other.than the
two that we've talked about?

THE WITNESS:. Examﬁle,_your Honox?

THE COURT: All of them. Do_you have the form in
front of you? |

MR. CHARNEY: Your Honor, iS'aéking a gquestion that I
understand but he may --

THE COURT: Don't rephrase this for me, Mr. Charney.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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I've been doing.this a long time. I am sure he gets it‘too but
I'm happy to rephrase it. Do you have the form in front of you
now?

THE WITNESS: Yes, I do. Okay.

THE COURT: All I am saying is, you made the decision
that your analysis of what is justified, unjustified,
indeterminate.and is based solely on two porfions bf the fofm.
On side one what were the circumstances which led to stop? On
gide two additional circumstances/factqrs? . I am just asking
you é general matter why did ybu ﬁot consider any of the other
information on the form? You can do it one by one or you can
do it céllectively but you chose not to consider any of
remaining information oﬁ'the form in your re&Sonable_suspicioﬁ
anal?sis. I am just asking you why. |

THE WITNESS: We can go section by secﬁion. So
starting on side twb,‘the information under "was person
friskéd" thaﬁ was not relevant to determiningl;he basis for the
stop. We have that information but we decidedlthat it waén't
helpful in deciding'wés there a reasonable and articulate
suspiciqn for the stbp. The same goeé for.ﬁwas person
searched" . | |

We did uée the bok for "was weapon found". Because I

think as your Honor noted, we locked at the number of cases

‘where a weapon was recovered and it was a very tiny fraction of

the stops, roughly, one weapon for every thousand stops. So we

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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did use that as one of the bases on which to conclude the form
was doing work that it was designed.té do.
| THE COURT: The form?

THE WITNESS: That the stops themselves were based on
accurately reasonaﬁle suspicion. In other words, if'réasbnablei'
suspidion was being concluded in an accurate way, fhen we would
have gueésed that there would have been a much higher number éf 
weapons recovery. .

THE COURT: Right. Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: "Was other'coﬁtraband.found"? Wé did
the same with that. We recorded the types of céntraband_fqund,
drugs. And we were given information in the database about
whether drugs were'rééovéredg The?e was specific mentions of
contraband. So we did usé that again'as another estimate about
whether reasonable suspicion was being applied in an accurate
way. |

I think that takes carerof the back of the fofm.

THE COURT: So-you did not chsider, of course;
"demeanor of pérson after being stop" or‘ﬁremarks made by
person after the stop".

THE WITNESS: No. The information there was very
gpotty in the database.

ITHE COURT: I.don't.know what precinét, serial number
and all that.

THE WITNESS: We took into account precinct, the spec

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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location of the stop in terms df -- We thought we did not
include height, weight, gender;

THE COURT: 'Now you are going to side one? Whyadon‘tr
you start at the top.

THE WITNESS: We didn't include the time of stop. I

_think there is some information where we looked at time of

stop.. It didn't seem to be,nparticularly, helpful to us.
"Period of observation", I think that's siﬁply the length of
time thaﬁ the officer was in the encounter.

| THE COURT: Did you consider it or not in asseésing
reasonable suspicion?

THE WITNESS: We did not considér that .

THE COURT: Why?

THE WITNESS: We didn't think that it mapped well oﬁ
to the case‘law.- |

We lookea at the intersectibn. Wé did not coﬁsider
whether the.stop was done on the inside.

THE COURT: When you said we locked at the
intersection, lét me understand thatf When you concluaed
justified,-unjﬁstified or indetefminate, I thought you did that
soiely on the -- |

THE WITNESS: I'm gorry. You are right.

THE COURT: You didn't consider the address for that
purpose?

THE WiTNESS:' Correct. We didn't use it, right.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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THE COURT: You didn't use inside/outside?"

THE WITNESS: No, that didn't --

THE COURT: Right. Or transit or housing?

THE WITNESS: No,.

THE COURT: OQr type iocation?‘

THE WITNESS:"NO. |

THE COURT: How about the next box?

THE WITNESS: We didn't use the crime suspected for .
reasonable suspicion,.nor did we use duration of the stop. The
next.set of boxes we did use. i |

THE COURT: You did?

THE WITNESS: -What circumstances led to the stop.

THE COURT: Oh, that of coursge. Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: We did‘not have the information on the

name of the person, their nickname, street address date of

-birth, address. We didn't know any identifyiﬁg information

about the individual, go all of that was set aside. We_didﬁ't
know the naﬁure -- wéll, I think we, actually, did know the
nature of the identificafion that was provided.

THE COURT: Where is that?

THE WITNESS:- Bélow naddress" it says
"identification", "verbal", '"photo ID", weldid not use that.

THE COURT:  Oh, okay. I'seé that. Go ahead.

THE WITNESS: We did not use that for the reasonable
suspicion_analysis, nor did we uée‘the person's gender, race,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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age, height, weight, hair color, eye color or build. We did
not use information on scars and tattoos as basis for

reasonable suspicion. I don't recall but I don't believe that

that's, actually,;in'the database other than one of the

notation boxes and that was, again, very rarély filled out.

Whether the officer explained the reason for the stop
was not relevant to us for that particular analysis.

Were other persons stopped, questioned or frisked, we

did not include that as a basis or reasonable suspicion.

THE COURT: Why not?

THE WITNESS: It didn't seem to be as we, again, as we

“articulated in our memo about the cases that we read we didn't

‘gee a group stop as being something that was relevant to case

law --.in case law.

We did not use physical force. Our interpretation of
the physical force box was physical force that was used by.the
officer. | |

THE COURT: During the stép?

THE WITNESS: Yes. So that was after the stop.

THE COURT: That would be true of the arrest and
summons and all that.

THE WITNESS: Correct.

THE COURT: So yoﬁ've anticipated that question. Now,
why did in ¢oding this, why did you conclude that the only box
checked on gide one was "other" and there were multiple boxes

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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on side two that had to be coded as "indeterminete"?

THE WITNESS: '~ I have to go back and check-that
particular number of cases. I don!ﬁ recall why{we made that
determination.

THE COURT: Who made ﬁhat determination?

THE WITNESS: We did.r

THE COURT: Who is "we"?

THE WITNESS: Myself and my research assistant.

THE COURT: Okay. |

THE WITNESS: We read the case law. We did not
consider multiple-additional circumstances. Our reading.was

that -- and this is sort of the general framework for the

‘analysis -- was what was on the front of the box was were the

basig for suspicion that led to the stop. A2And the additional

circumstances were things that would qualify or condition that

‘initial factor. We felt that the presence of -- well, I

actually don't know how many boxes. BAnd, again, as I said, I
have to go back and check how many boﬁes were checked off in

multiple ACs, we just don't know. But I'll have to go back -and

see. It could be it was such a small number that we did not

congider it to be something that would move the dial measurably

in this analysis.
| THE COURT: You keep saying "we decided" or "we
determined". Who are these research assistants?
THE WITNESS: These were my second and third year law

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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v

students. I consulted on occasion members of the faculty, law
faculty.
_THE COURT: Right. So, let's turn back to side one.

So in deciding whether to code a certain box as "justified" or

ﬁconditionally justified", who made that decision and how was

it made?

THE WITNESS: We read the case law.

THE COURT: Well, when you are saying "we" did you
reed -

THE DEFENDANT: I read the case law together with my

regearch assistants and they made a recommendation and I

questioned them and we went back and we discussed each one of

the factorsp We updated the memo most recently in the fell of
2000 and I believe, 08. Case law as of that time when we began)
to work on this. |

THE COURT: What is your baekground or training that
allows you to read a legal decisgsion and decide what the holding
is? |

-_'THE.WITNESS& Well, I have been teaching law fof,at.

least the past, since 1998 and reading cases and locking at the
interpretation and applications of those cases and in a variety
of different areas of law.

TﬁE.COURT: Have you taken courses in law?

THE WITNESS: .No, I have not. But I am doing research
and reeding extensively and deeply-in law review articles, as

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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well as case law and opinions, ﬁery active conversations with
my colleagues at law school who are -- |

THE COURT: What is your educational background?

THE WITNESS: I have a PhD in civil engineering.

THE COURT: Are you é criminologist?

THE WITNESS: Yes. My research practice is in
criminclogy.

THE COURT: Any training in criminology.

THE WITNESS: My doctoraté was in a special program in

urban systems SUNY Buffalo and I concentrated in that doctoral

- program in criminal justice.

THE COURT: Did you take courses in that?

THE WITNESS: One or two, yes.

THE COURT: At SUNY?

THE WITNESSQ ‘During my training.

THE COURT: Okay. '

THE WITNESS: I was on the faculty at Rutgers for
seven years and béfore that thé'facﬁlty of John Jay College.

THE CCURT: Teaching what? |

'THE WITNESS: Various courses in criminology and
research --

THE COURT: All right. ©Let's turn to question of the

.behchmark. You heard the discussion here about benchmarking.

And why is it first of all, that you don't think you can

extrapolate from the 62 percent of suspects where race is known

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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to the 38 percent where race is not known and just project on

the 62 percent where race is known happened to be 60 percent of

minority and 40 pércent white, why can't you extrapolate that

to the other 38 pérCent?

THE WITNESS: First of all, yOur'Honor, the data that
we were given to do the analysis for this report, the figure
was not 62 percent. _It wag actually closer to 50'percept.

THE COURT: Where did I get the 62 and 38? Asking the -
laWyers. |

MR. CHARNEY: They subéequently this past fall

produced new investigations of the 2009 and 2010 crime date but'

thétlwas'more than a year éfter he did his expert.
| THE COURT: So the current number is 62 and 38 but it
wasn't then?. |

MR. CHARNEY: Only for those two years. And he
aétually looked at, I believe, five or six years of data going
back from '04 to '09. |

THE COﬁRT:V So‘at'that time what was the breakdown
between known and who rémembers?

THE WITNESS:. It was in the 16w 50s.

THE COURT: Why can't you extrapolate from one to the
other?

THE WITNESS: The method -- that wQuld reguire an
analysis‘that called in is Sﬁatisticé and imputation analysis.
Qne would have to impute to missing observationsﬁ ihformationl

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C. .
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that's known from observations where it's not missing. There's

. a great deal of-disagreement and fighting among statisticians

about the best way to do such imputations, even the context in
which such imputations are actually done.

There's an area of social science which is very

 commonly used database about homicides across the United

States. And the best minds in that field when they work with
that data set conclude Ehat one can make impﬁtations at very
large units ef analysis, generally, at_the state level. But to
make imputations of units of analysis that are smaller than‘
that Would be a big mistake, meaning counties or city or
smaller areag than that. I, offer that just as an example of
disagreements about imputations, so that's-one reason.

Second, and I think your Honor articulated the
question of seleetion bias really well. I think that we woula
be taking a risk by making essumptions about cases when we oniy
have information in half or siightly more than half about what
wag going on in the ether half of the cases where we had no
information. The risk of error there would bias what we
concluded if we were to make that kind of large scale
application to missing data.

It's kind of like a keys and lamppost problem. If we
were to make, we're 1eoking fer keys and we only look under the
lamppost, there's a.vastlarea beyond the lamppost where they
are other ﬁhings going on out there that we simply don't know

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C!
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about.

THE COURT: All right. That answers the question of

-why you didn't extrapolate from the known data to the unknown.

But why didn't you want to choose to consider race as a factor

in terms of the known crime rate suspects when you tried to
- analyze the disparate impact allegedly of the stops in one

. community over another? Why didn't you think you had to

comparé the suspect,'in.other words, those who were committing
the criﬁé? |

THE WITNESSE Couple of'feasons. One wag, again, we
did not want to make assumpﬁions bagsed on -- we didn't want to
do a test_qf the disparaﬁe impact or disparate-treatment éf
éuspects or individuals based on information which was
incomplete about thé ﬁniverse of people in that the racial
distribution of people in that neighborhood.

THE COURT: So'you're éaying the answer to the second
question is pretty much the éame as the first because the data
isg incomplete énd you can't extrabolate to the whole‘it's not
safe to use that benchmark.

THE WITNESS: We believe that the bias that would be
produced-would make tﬁe'analysis -- where I to submit such.én‘
analysis to Peer Review_Jourﬁal -- I have two peer reviews --
it would be rejected out of hand.

THEACOURT: What Was thelbenchmafk you uéed?‘

THE WITNESS: = We used benchmérk, two simultaneously

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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one was total amount of crime in the areé. The first_analysis h
was done by the preciﬁét.' The second by the'ceﬁsus track. 2And.
we also used the population that was in that area at that time.
THE COURT: By race?r
THE WITNESS: * Yes. The total population and the

racial distribution within that area. We thought that those

two benchmarks in tandem gave complete information about the

crime.

THE COURT: I believe you questioned the accuracy of

the information that police officers report on the record on

the UF-250. To some extent they‘now_are checking more boxes to
play it safe. They are checking furtive movements, high' crime,
they're easy to check and hard to investigate, so to speak. So
if you have your 6wn doubts about the accuracy of the déta that
how can it support any opinion if the data itself is bad?

THE WITNESS; ﬁell, we take the information as it's
given ﬁo us. We take thé conditions as it's givén.and make
assumﬁtions about it and --

THE COURT: But do you think the data is inacéurate to
begin with, how can we draw ahy conclusions from bad data?

THE WITNESS:, I think you can make conclusions about
the data generadting process based on what the data itself
looked like. So, fbr'eXample,;as yoﬁ noted, your Honor, if we
see a very high rate of a particular box being checked off that
saye high crime area regardless of the crime rate in the area

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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or furtive moveménps which is a very broad subjective category '
of perception or a sharp increase in a particular box being
checked off, violent crime action is indicative of violent
crime, we see this as something that comments about the data

generating process itself and that was a bases for my criticism

of the reliability of the data for using it as an accurate way

to regulate --

- THE COURT: Right. And I understand that. But, my

-last question was, Mr. Charney, what are you using this expert

for? And he said two things. One is that the City is not
sufficiently monitoring‘and training and all that. " That's one.
But for the other pﬁrposé-for trying to analyze the
constitutionality or unconstitutionalitj of the stopé as a
péttern, if the data is bad, if you believe on the one hand
that police officers are jusf willy-nilly are checking boxes or

checking boxes that they know don't relate or will get them by

‘on an audit, if the data is bad, how c¢an it support an opinion

aé to whether a stop is justified or not justified if you
yourself believé'the data is inaécurate?
- THE WITNESS: it's:a slightly convocated answerxr.
THE COURT: Well, 1 am-here'to heér.

THE WITNESS: We take the data. We assume that the

. data are giving us information that the police are putting

forward as their justification for the stops. Our comment has

to -- we caveat and we say if this is right, if the police are

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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artiCulating the date that is actually the basis for the stop, -

- then we analyze the data based on what they say to us. Our

" conclusion afterwards says, well, we have some reasons to

believe that some of the indicia that they marked off for a

‘reasonable suspicion seem to be used in a rather undisciplined

way.

So I mean, perhaps, I am not answering the question

" correctly. I understand that. But we can only analyze what'

put before us in terms of data and draw some conclusionsrbased
bn batterns that we observed.

THE-COURT{ I understand but your background is an _'
engineer. If you kneﬁ that the dafa that you were studying was

inaccurate would you be willing to make any scientific

. conclusion based on data you knew or believed to be inaccurate?

Would;you want to say, gee, that bridge is safe, when you
thought you had false data from the inspéctors?' I doh't_thiﬁk
so. Because then the bridge would coilapse and hundreds of
péople would die. So the qﬁesfion is, what cén you do with
data you don't believe has integrity? _

THE WITNESS: One of the things that we do with it is
we poke and prod the data to see if it is reliable and
coﬁsistent. There's different measures for iooking at thé
quality of data. One is reliability, meaﬁing'does the same
person reportrthe same thing consistently over time when.
confronted with the éame circumstances? We see reliability of

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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data but reliability doesn't necessarily mean validity. 1In

other words, is what's written down a correct observation of

what's actually happening out in the world? 1It's a little bit
‘harder to test because we can test that for internal validity.

One of the analysis that we did that we did not report in-here

was something called a factor analysis of those, the reasonable
suspicion markers.

A factor analysis'is, bagically, .a Way to look at

- correlations between particular items. Are there underlying

patterns? And one of the things we found in that analysis, the

factor analysis, was that in fact things did kind of hang

"together that should have hung togethef._ So, for example,

there is two or three of both the stop factors in the
additional circumstances that address the question of violent

crime in one way or another. We found that those, actually,

did hang together in the correlation. I'd be happy to supply

those if the Court's interested.
So we did find,-aCtually,'that there was some validity

internally to those aﬁalysis, I mean, to the use of those

markers. Somebody who was interpreted actions indicative of a

violent crime who was actually likely to mark off another

factor that seemed to speak to the same underlying construct.

" So we thought there was some validity based on the way that

these things grouped to go.

THE COURT: Another question is, you remember the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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error about Category Five and Category_Five is the one where it
should be justified if there's two or more conditionélly

justified stopped circumstances on side one but originally you:

coded Category Five as indeterminate, when later you said it

was justified if there are two or more. How did that error-get._'

“there and how did it get out?

.'THE WITNESS: There are mény,_many, it's a very
detailed analysis, many pages 6f documentation. I could sit
here and explain how an error happened.- .

‘ THE-COURT: :That particuiar error where you had two or
mére conditionally justified circumstance dn side one but coded
as indeterminate, how did that‘creep_in?

.THE WITNESS: It was.an error. ‘We wrote many linesg of
céde -~
THE COURT: Computer code. Okay.

_MS.’GROSSMAN: - to do this. And there was a misﬁake
in the computer code and we went back and we read it énd
mistakes still got through.

THE COURT: OK. So it was a computer error, so to

‘speak. I realize you created the error in creating the code

but thdt's how it got there.
THE WITNESS: Yes.
THE COURT: How did you realize the error was théie?
THE WITNESS: We realized it when the City's papers --
and we were quick to correct iﬁ, as you know. |

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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THE COURT: The indeterminate percentage of stops
increagsed from 15 to 24.

THE WITNESS: Decrease.

THE COURT: The erxor increased it and the

correction --

THE WITNESS: The pércentage of stops remained, the
gstops remain the same. fhe number shifted aownWard.

THE COURT: To 15.4.

THE WITNESS: Percentage of étops thaélyou were
justified shifted upwards.

THE COURT: . So you ended up with 15.4 of indeterminate

‘and 16.7 unjustified for a total of roughly 22.

THE WITNESS: Righ;, yes.

THE COURT: How much weight did you put on so-called
hit rate?

THE WITNESS: Well, as YQ;r Honor noted, we thought
that when we -- and we continue to think that a hit rate in
terms of right séizure of contraband or Weapons on the one hand
or making_a viable arrést on the other hand was very,'very low. -
And we didn't have a.sense about what.that Shéuld be.

THE COURT: Right. How do you know six péfcent ig
low? Maybe it's high{

THE WITNESS: Statisticians always ask the question,
how well does this thing happen‘better than chance? If ybu
can't do much better than chance then your system is not véry

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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lhelpful.

THE COURT: Right.
"THE WITNESS: So we went, set about in looking for

different cases where there were roadblocks. We thought

roadblocks were actually the most relevant.

THE COURT: Because everybody is stopped at the
roadblock.

THE WITNESS: Right. There was one other research

~ study that we locked at which was where they did the kind of

analysis of, actually, of narratives but they were narratives

that were recorded by an independent observer. And I think T

c¢ited to that study was published in the Journal célled
Criminology in the Public Policy.

In that one they said 45 percent, they had a hit_rate
of that was somewhat lower and a 1ittle bit higher. We loocked
at the-study in Michigaﬁ which ierisk and We locked at Edmund

in Indianapolis and the hit rates there were higher in terms of

‘seizure of drugs and contraband from the hit rate here.

THE COURT: Were those random?

THE WITNESS: Roadblocks. To the best of our
knowledge they were checkpoints.

THE COURT: 'Evérybody stopped.

THE WITNESS:. Yes. On some random schedule and I

think that was part of the hold in those cases. .

And they were

finding 13 percent I think was the case in Sisk. So we said,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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ockay, this is a reasonable benchmark maYbe‘plus or minus two or

three percent in either direction would be good but we're
finding hit rates very, very far below that.

THE COURT: From that you conclude that there was

never reasonable suspicion in the first place. The stops were

-eggentially random, not random but baseless. In othér words,

they were just stops.

THE WITNESS: They were inaccurate. I think the term

that we use is "inaccurate". And therefore whatever the

training, whatever the methodology was that the police officers

were using to determine a reasonable suspicion and make a stop

based on that was simply not accurate and not yielded. It was

wrong. Suspicion that was inaccurate.

THE COURT: rYou judged that as I say by hindsight by
comparing it to randomize stops, like roadblocks or
chebkboints? |

THEVWITNESS: Correct.

THE COURT: I've asked a number of questions that were
of concern to me. The next question is who goes‘next? ,I don't

know if there is anything else you want to bring out. I may

- have missed something that I questioned you about that I said I

would take up later with him or maybe not. So I'll give you |
the firgt chance to see if there's something you want to £ill
in before Ms. Grossman.

3

MR. CHARNEY: Can I have one moment?

- SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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THE COURT: Sure.
(Pause)
MR.,CHARNEY:"I just have maybe one or two questiens.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

"BY MR. CHARNEY:

!

Q. Pfofessor, I think Judge Scheindlin asked you this

~question. When you went through the various sections of the

UF-250 form, the ones you considered and didn't consider and
méYbe.I may have missed it/ but could you‘tell:us why you
dian't use the stop 1odation section of the form as part of
your analysis of-classifying stops as justified, unjustified or
indeterminate?

A. .The reason.fér using stop locations would have been to
qﬁalify or provide somé‘additioﬁal information reiative to the
crime rate in the area. I believe it would have been most
germane than to an assessment whether the stop took place in a
high crime area. And ghere were a_coupie igsues with that.
One,: we assumed and basged our.decision on the fact that
officers were trained to check all that applied; And we
assumed that if, in fact, the stop took place in a high'crime

area they would have'checked the box accordingly. 'So we really

didn't want to second guess the decision of the officer.

Second, we didn't want to impose our decision or
criteria about what's 'a high crime area versus a low crime
area. .I think as you can see from some of our charts crime

SCOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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distributes very widely acrogs the city from very low claim

rates in some places to high crime ratesg in other places. We

‘didn't know what the cut-off was. We couldn't say.how'offiéersi

are trained to think about high crime area. Was it very high

.in the last month or week? What constitutes high? Three' stops

or robberies, is ten total fe;ony crimes? Does it include

felonies.plus misdemeanor? We have ho basis-forlimposiﬁg --
THE COURT: So the sole cbjective was the checkmark on

the box. |

THE WITNESS: Corrxect. And the most consistently

applied.

BY MR. CHARNEY:

'Q. And then just referring back to the benchmark gquestion. 1In

ydﬁr 2007 study that you did wiﬁhrProfessor Gelman what
benchmark did you use-inrthat case? _Sorryﬁ In that analysis?
A. We used a combination of the popuiation in the peolice
precincts and the race and crime specific_arrest rate in that
preciﬁct.

Q. Okay. Ndﬁ, did you use arrest-data-in this study that YOu._
did for Ehis case? |

A. No, we did not.

Q. Why didn't you use arrest data?

A. After we -- we have always said and I think we said in 2007
article‘that it would'havé been better, we would have preferred
to use actual data-on the crime;  We‘were not provided with

. SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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those data at that time. We use the best date that were
avallable to us at the time we did that study

In addition/ there were some researchers who had beeh
writing in some‘of the professional journals, including people
who didAthe random analysis for the city, Mr. Ridgeway, who
were very critical in fact:of oﬁr usé.of arrest data as
benchmark. Théy said that it was inadequate. We needed a much

broader and richer meagure of crime itself to understand the

~acts of the polide_officers in an area and we thought, ves, we

agree.

THE COURT: Why was the afrest data not accurate
enough?

THE WITNESS: Because arrest, when you study arrests
it's only really a partial viaw of crime. There are many, many
crimes that are not cleared. |

THE COURT: Not what?

THE WITNESS: "Cleared" meaning when you can't

-identify who actually committed the crime by an arrest

clearance rate igs basically the percentage of crimes as result
in an arrest. Clearance rates vaty'quite"a bit; very low to
very high. As we.say in crimihology, if you rely only on
arfest data'to estimate criminal activity you are really
relying more on the actions. You are.measuring the actions of
the police as much as you are the criminals. So we chose
instead to use a measure of total amount of crime and that's

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P. C
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"what we used.
' BY MR. CHARNEY:

-1Q. In that 2007 study were you comparing stop rates between

precincts in that study? In other wofds, were you ddmparing
the level of stops done in Precinct A with the level of stops
that you had done in Precinct B in that 2007 study?

A. No. That 2007 study analyzed the likelihocod of an

|| individual of a specific race to be stopped by the police in a

pérticular area. And in that case precincts relative to the
réce sﬁecific and crime specific rateg of activity in that
area;-

Q. What about in the analysis you did for this cage?

A.l The analog in case would be in Table Seven of my report.
Table seven of the report looks at the likelihcod of a Black
pérson or Hispanic or an other race person relative to a White
person being stoppéd in.a.neighborhood for a particular type 6f:
crime.

Q. Okay. What about the first question' I asked. 1In the
analysis you did in this case, didiyou do any comparison of
stop activity in one precinct;or one source of census track:and
compare it to stop activity in another census tfack for

another --

"A. Yes, we did. That would be results reported in Table Five.

That was the comparison of stop rates across precincts looking

at the combination of the racial composition of the precincts .

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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and the crime rate in that precinct.

Q. And that analysgis where you were 1éoking across precincts

‘what, if ahYthing, did you discover about the correlation

between racial composition %f a precinct, the qenSus track or
neighborhood and stop rate controlling for the crime:rate?
THE'COURT:A Say that agéin.
Q. The correlation between the stop rate in the preciﬁct ox
census track-betweenthat_and the racial combosition of that
precinct, the correlation between those_two things conﬁrolling_ 
for the crimerréte, what did ydu disdqver?
A. We discovered that after one cénﬁrols fof the crime rate in-
the precinct,'in one analysis in the precinct, the second in-
the census traék ﬁhat the racial composition of the
neighborhood predicted the stop rate in.ﬁhe neighborhood and we
did that both tofal stops and when we just aggregated it forﬁ

stops for a particular type of crimes that were alleged on the

" form.

Q. And therlast gquestion: When you 1o§ked at census tracks,
in your analysis of that were census tracks bigger than
precincts, smaller or around ﬁhe same size?

A. Much sﬁaller than preecincts. Precincts have roughly
100,000 people on average. Census fraéks have roughl? five
thousand people on average. The footprint of a precinct is
véry large. The footprint in a census track in some cases is 
largé when have you éparsely popqlated areas of the Bronx,. for

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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example. But for the most part the foot print is, actually,
quite small, a few square blocks.

Q. What, if anything, can you say about the racial

“demographics of census tracks that you looked at?

A. They're internally consistent. New York City for better or
worse, more for worse I think in the minds of many people is a

pretty segregated city. So there 1s a great deal of --

population distribution within the census track.

TEE COURT: Okay. Ms. Grossman.
BY MS. GROSSMAN:
Q.A Professor Fagen, you said that you had some second year law
students assist you in your.research,anaiysis.
A. Second and third year law studenté, several of whom were
bn, a few Qf whom were on law review, yes.
Q. But they were law Students. Théy had not taken the bar
yet; is that right?
A; Correct.
Q. How many of the cases did you read?
A. The ones that they cited.
Q. How many were cited in your memo?
A I didn't count.
THE COURT: I did today. It was maybe 40.
BY THE COURT: |
Q. How many?
A. I probably read 25.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Q. How many times did you read them?
A. Probably in some cases more than once but that was a few

mostly one time.

Q. And how many time did you spend reading those cases?
A. I can't recall. Reading a case from start to finish, 20

minutes.

Q. Okay. And --

THE COURT: Did you say that on occasion you:also
consulted faculty members?

THE WITNESS: On.occasion.

THE COURT: About cases or holdings in casesg?

THE WITNESS: Well, about the summary of, about my

view of about the applicability of the factor and see if theyl

had a:sense of their view of the case law at large if it
differed.
THE- COURT: Not to second guess your undefstanding of
a particular case? |
THE WITNESS: = No, not on the case. On thé general -
conclusion. | |
THE COURT: I understand. Did you also consult with
counsel in this case?
'THE WITNESS: No. I gave them our memo and that's it.
THE COURT: Okay. |
BY MS. GROSSMAN:
Q. Now, you aléo discussed or mentioned something about

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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imputatibns at tﬁe state leﬁel and you wmentioned that you don't
Want to make too many risks to make assumptions but somethihg .
about_whét you said about this imputation at the state level,
it was important and significant to you about the size of the

area; is that right?

A, Yes.

Q. But then NYPD is a very large area relative to that; isn't

ﬁhat true?

- A. Yes.

THE COURT: NYPD is th --
- MS., GROSSMAN: I'm sorry.
Q. VThe City of New York is a large city so that imputatioﬁ_
isgue that you may be concerned about With smaller areas.
doesn't really -- it's not really relevant here what the city
the size of New York Ciﬁy?
THE COURT: Is that accurate are or is that backwafds?
I thought size worked the othef way. Imputing to a large size
is a dangeroﬁs thing.
THE WITNESS: No. Imputing to a smaller size --

THE COURT: Okay.

-~ A. No, that's not right. If we were to do imputations, we

would do them in very small axeas because we're trying to
understand and'compare areas. So we wouldn't want to impute
for the whdle city. That would unfairly weight what happens in
the Rockaways to what happens in ﬁhe Bronx. And so iﬁstead we

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
' (212) 805-0300
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were much more interested in trying to make imputations within

either precincts -- in either case would have been probably not

~a healthy thing to do statistically.

BY MS. GROSSMAN:
Q. Thank you, Profegssor Fagen. Now you mentioned that thé,use

of arrest data is no longer preferable in the way that you had

used it in past articles; is that right?

A. . That seems to be the weight'of opinion among researchers

who were doing thisg kind of wbrk.

 Q. Well, you just told the judge and all of us that that's one
of the reasons why vyou don't use it.

" A. Why we didn't use in this analysis.

Q. But that was the data that was used in the ABs report?

A. Yes.

Q. 8o based on the fact that you don't; that arrest data is

really not to be used, is not really recommended to be uged for
these kinds studies, the AG's report is really not;a valid
report any longer in terms of reliability; isn't that right?
A. I don't think that was a fair conclusion. We used data
ﬁhat wag avallable in the AG's report and we did have measures
at the ci;ywide érime'rate1 We weré able to take that in
corisideration, but not the specific local precincts.

Q. But the fact is. you just told us that that very same arrest
data that you did uge in your previous study is the same data
that YOﬁ used in the AG report -and that is the reason why you

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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did not use it in this report. So the methods --
A. The same data?

Q. The same arreat data?

A. From 1999?
Arrest -- the quality of data, the arrest data?
We did not use 1999 arrest data.

- THE COURT: She is not saying the same -- shé's sa&ing'
tﬁe ééme type of data. Did you use the same type of daté in
the Attorney General's study?r
A, Yés.

| THE COURT: She is asking do you still consider the A
government's report to be an accurate report or accurate

opinion since it did rely to some extent on arrest data that

you wouldn't use now.

A. 1 think the conclusions are accurate to the extent_that the
énalysis thét we did consider multiple factors including
arrests, we did look at the correlatioﬁs which we knew totally
about crime and'arrest data and werwére satigfied that the
arrest data at that time was the best alternative.

THE COURT: Sure. But looking back today you still
ﬁould stand by the reliability of the outcome?

THE WITNESS: I think I would, yes.

.BY MS. GROSSMAN:

Q. And so you could use the same arrest data in this case?
! .

MR. CHARNEY: Objection, your Honor.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C;
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THE COURT: I think -- No. He is saying it's not the
best way to do is although he was asked -- |
A. We took the best route. And truth is we, .actually, have
locked at butldidnit report what would happen if we actually
used arrestrdata, the results are unchanged.

Q. Well, in fact, the best available data, wouldn't you agree,

ig really suspect described by race if you could have that

data, right?
A. It's incomplete.
Q. But in a perfect world thaﬁ be the preferable --
A, It is not a peffect world. '
THE COURT: But she's saying if every --
A. If we knew for every felony instead of 50 percent, if we

knew a hundred percent, possibly. I'd have to look and see. I

"can't make a blanket conclusion.

THE COURT: This is only a hypothetical question. If

~you happen to know the race of every single perpetrator of a

crime you would use it if you knew it for a fact.
THE WITNESS: In a perfect world, sure.
BY MS. GROSSMAN:

Q. You also mentioned when the judge asked you about the

"other" boxes and the type of information that was contained in.

the.narrative portion of other than side one of the form; do
you remember that?
A. (Nodding)

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Q. You said there was a high percentage that was populated but

there was a lot of information that you just couldn't defihe,

you couldn't interpret, correct?

A, Yes.
Q. Ypu-ever produce thoée results of your analysis to the
city? |
A. No.
Q. Do you have them?

'THE COURT: Did you do én analysis?
A. We looked at them. We inspected them. We took a sample of
those cases, the fairly large sampie, printed cut all of them
and inspected it and it just wasn't-usefui.

Q. That was never produced to the City?

A. No.

THE COURT: When you éay "produced" what?

‘MS. GROSSMAN: 1In discovery.

THE,CQURT: I understand whatl"produced“ means. But
whétiwas there to produce? What could you, if they said show
us now what daté you checked with respect to the narrative part
of "other", do.you have computer prinﬁouﬁs with thesé_notatibns*
like XNE? )
| THE WITNESS: The data that was provided to us had the
text field in text form. .So.we put up in the cémputer and we
said, give us, take a sample of a thousand. So we took -a-
random sample of the thousand and start to look at the text

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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COURT: Did you have a report of what was on those .

" one thousand samples?

WITNESS: We didn't prepare a report.

COURT: I don't know the order report but did the

computer spit out in some way what was on these one thousand

‘sample UF-250s?

THE

inspected it

. THE

where it

“what- was

THE

THE

THE

THE

WITNESS: We could ask the computer to do it. -We-
and look --

COURT: It was a thousand?

WITNESS: Well, we took a sample of how --

COURT: It was, in fact, a thousand?

WITNESS: Yes.

COURT: You loocked at the explanation on "other"

says "specified" and the computer could now spit out

on those one thousand to you?

THE

THE

THE

THE

WITNESS: Yeah, if we asked it to.
COURT: But you hadn't asked it to, but you could?
WITNESS: We .could.

COURT: .I am not sure there was any failure to

prdduce anything.

THE

WITNESS: At the time of the report we simply

looked at what was on the screen.

THE COURT: Never produced.

BY MS. GROSSMAN:

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Q. You never generated copies of what you found on the
computer?

A. For that particular analysis, no.

-Q, When you did do the analysis of the fields that were

populated, the entries that were made, it was based on your

interpretation of what's there. I mean that's your own
' interpretation of the information?

A, Sorry. I don't understand.

THE COURT: ' Nobody else second guessed it for you.l
You-didnit have an expert in police lingo or something to tell
you that EXN meant something. You just looked at it yoursélf?-

THE WIfNESS: Correct. |

THE COURT: Okay.

BY MS. GROSSMAN: .

Q.. Now, Professor Fagen, you in your classification analysis

you conclude that about, close to about 80 percent of the stops

fall into the "justified" category, right?

A. Right.

Q. Now, did you consider the impact that the 80 percént_of

justify stops had oh_your regression and anallys contained in
your report?
A. I am sorry. I don't understand.

THE COURT: Neither do I.

Q. Meaning that if we have 80 percent justified stops your

regression analysis is not limited to the 20 percent that are

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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-broblematic; isn't that right?

.THE COURT: I don't understand question. I think he

18 focused on the fact that 20 percent of 2.8 million people

is -- somebody help me.

"A. TFive hundred thousand.

THE COURT: Five hundred- thousand people were

unjustifiably Stopped. That's a lot of people to have suffered
. , :

an unjﬁstifiable'stop. That's already clear. I don';‘think he

was.thinking anything about the 80 percent. I think he was

gaying five hundred thousand people ig a lot of people.
‘Q. But your conclusion in your regression, Professor Fagen, is |.

‘that race predicts the stop rate; isn't that light?

A. Over and above the crime rate.

Q. And that was -- that analysis was done for all 2.8 million'
stops, correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Now, how do you reconcile that finding against the fact
fhat 80 percenﬁ of the stops wére justified?

A, Well,'again; I have to'confess I dén‘t uﬁderstand’what you
are asking. You are asking whether or not our analysis of
reésonable suspicion éomehow bears on our analysis equal
proteétion?

Q. 'Exactly. Because if there's reaéonablé suspicion for a

stop, it's a race neutral'reason for a stop. Race can't be the

~reason. -It's a race neutral reason. A reasonable suspicion

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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under the case law is a race neutral reason for a stop. Did

. you consider that?

THE COURT: In deterﬁining what?

A.! I am sorry. |
THE COURT: One person at a time, professqrf
Did you consider in determining what?

MS, GROSSMAN: In determining whether race was the

. factor, the reason the -- what that race predicted the stop

rate, that race was the influence of the stop rate, that race
caused the stop, it was the reason for the stop. So we're
getting back to what is the reason for the-stdp?

THE COURT: I think by definition, if 80 percent of

the stops were justified as to those stops, you can say that

raceiwas the facﬁor that drove the stop, right? You can't say
that or can your? |

THE WITNESS: Well, I can say this, one of the
analysis that we .did was in Table Thirteen aﬁd we looked at
whether or not the indicia of éuspicion actually assisted |

understanding the patterns of stops. In that model we found

that, in.fact, if'wé looked at all of the measures that we used

to predict the patterxrn of stops without using reasonable

-suspicion we found a certain distribution. Did we then get any

additional understanding or explanation of the stops by adding

in the factors having to do with reasohable guspicion? And the

- answer was on balance, no, we didn't learn anything new.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C,
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Q. But you didn't do that analysis?

A. i'm 80rry. .

Q. You didn't actuélly consider it. We just learned from your
corrected, byrcofrecting your coding errors the numbers went up .

from 70 percent to 80 percent of the justified categofy. So

~you didn't consider that 80 percent and how that impacts your

regressgion analysis?
MR. CHARNEY: - Objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: I think sustained because I don't

-understand the question. Whether it's 70 or 80, all he is

" gsaying is he compared rates where putting whole reasonable

suspicion analysis aside and just predicting what the stops
would be based on population and the crime rate it wouid.have
been the same, in any event.

MS. GROSSMAN: That's what table?

THE COURT: He said "thirteen".

- A. Thirteen.
Q. But in your regression analysisg you control from particular

. factors; isn't that right?

A. Which regression?

Q. There are various regressions in your report. Isn't one of

the regressions among them one of the controls that conducted

was for patrol strength?
A. Yes. In the regressions --
Q. But in that regression analysis you didn't control for

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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reasonable sugpicion the fact that 80 percent of the stops here

were explained by reasonable suspicion?

~A. No, we didn't.

1

Q. Thank you. Professor Fageri, did you quality control your

.coding that you made mention of earlier?

'A. Coding of what?

Q. Coding.of the classification methods.

A. What do you mean "quality coal"?

Q. Well, when you had researchers go through and code to you

under the term "quality control"?

A, Of course.

Q. What do you understand it to be, professor?

A. To accuracy. |

Q. Okay.

A; Uniform application of criteria. We could go on.
Sure. So, did you do any ofithat in your coding process?
Sorry. . Coding of -- we used a lot of codes. Which one?
There were sdme that were quité problematic here; isn't

that right?

"A. I am sorry. I really don't understand what you are.

referring to.

- Q. The coding errors that were made that you corrected,

correct?
4. Okay.
MR. CHARNEY: Objection, your Honor,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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mischaracterization of his testimony. That was only one.

THE COURTE She ﬁsed the word "errors". He said it

' was one. He =aid in the computer code the computer code that
‘was written said that if there were two conditional justified

boxes that was coded in the end as unjustified instead.

THE WITNESS: We moved them from "indeterminate"

innocent to "justified".

THE COURT: Should have been coded as "justified".

BY MS. GROSSMAN:

" Q. So my gquestion to you is, what kind of quality control did

you do during your, during the running in and the analysis of
coding your classification method?

A. For that particular analysis?

Q. Yes.

A. We read the code and looked at the result .and read the code
again and looked again and the mistake leaked through, the one
mistake.

THE COURT: But is there no real judgment calls in

this kind of coding here. No researcher has to make a judgment-_

call because it was decided in advance what would be called,'
which.of these boxes woﬁld be conditionally justified,
unjﬁstified or indeterminate. Each one is assigned word "J" or
"CJ" or "I" so nobody makes a. judgment.

THE WITNESS: Right. It was simply a question of

. translating our memorandum into a set of computer instructions.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) B805-0300
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THE COURT: Right. So that after those boxes are

added up, so to speak, you then have to see how many had one

Jboxl how many had no box, whether the box was justified or -

-conditionally justified and how many boxes on the other side

and that's where the code error crept in.
THE WITNESS: Yes, right.

THE COURT: But there's no coding objective decisiong

to be made in this partiéular study.

THE WITNESS: That is correct. So it wasn't -- so

less of a coding error than it wés a writing.

THE COURT:. Computer instructions.

BY MS. GROSSMAN:

Q. Professor Fagen, you_appeér to be -- you find that you are
very critical of the UF-250 form, right?

A. Well, I make some conclusions that it's not a very helpful

" way of gauging guspicion.

THEjCOURf: Why ig that?

THE WITNESS: Because it leads to very low hit rates
because it.seems.td include some things, patterns that are
nonrandoﬁ‘

THE COﬁRT: Like?.

THEVWITNESS:"The excess use of movement in high crime
area and'unresponsive use of high crime area.

Q. Well, it's not necessarily an intention behind the officer.
Could just be a function of the form and the way it's prepared,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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102

coxrect?

'A. I can't offer an opinion.

"THE CCURT: It's almost the.opposite. Nothing wroné
with the form but if the officer decides everybody is going't5
check high crime area, play it safe. 1It's not the form's fault
at all. That would be a training area. They are just
protecting theﬁselvés.

THE WITNESS: That's fair enough. 1It's a bump. It

‘helps to move sémething from being in a gray area.

THE COURT: If a police officer knows that and wants
to protect'himself or herself, everybody checks high crime.

THE WITNESS: More or less.
BY MS. GROSSMAN:
Q. So you are critical of the form-aﬁd you find fault with the

form. You our aware that the UF-250 form was result of a

_ negotiated settlement between the City of New York and class

éounsel in the Daniels cage?
MR. CHARNEY: Objection.
THE COURT: Do yoﬁ know that?
A. I deo know that but had no beéring even how we use the form.
THE CQURT: - That's ndt the questién. So let's aﬁswer
what's asked.
Q. You know that was adopted as the agreement of élass couﬁsel
who were the same c¢lass counsel in this case, right?
THE COURT:: Do you know that?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, D.C.
(212) 805-0300




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18
19
20

21

22

23

24

25

20 o

i o 103
C38AAFLOC - Fagen - Cross

A. To the best of my knowledge, it's true.

Q. _Well, that's because you know that because you were the -

‘consulting expert for the plaintiffs then, weren't you?

~

A.. No.

Did_you consult with the plaintiffs\in the Daniels case?
No.
Didn't you have consultations with them?
No. |
-ITHE COURT: He'just said herwasn't ihvolved.
A. I had one meeting with dne éf the attorneys from _ ¢
plaintiff'é counsel to answer some questions that he asked.
That was it. |
THE‘COURT: 'Was it oﬁe meeting?
THE WITNESS: One meeting.
THE COURT: You don't know what stage of that cése?
Was it the end, the beginning, in thermiddie, you donft kndw?
THE WITNESS: . No idea. Can't recall.
MS. GROSSMAN; Just one second ﬁlease.
(Pause)
BY MS. GROSSMAN:
Q. Pfofessor Fagen, do ybu remémber being deposed in this case
by Mr. Larkin? |
A. Yes.
Q. And do you remember being'asked some questions and giving
some answers at that deposition; do you remember that?

'SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300.
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A. Yes,
Q. Do ybu remember these guestions and these answers?

-I had conversationg with people from the Center for
CQnstitutional Rights, cofrect? |

A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember that question?

'A. Yes.

Q. Sometime prior to early .2009 you ﬁet with Mr. Charney,

correct?

"A. Prior to 2009?

Q. Yes.

A. When did I begin?

MR. CHARNEY: Your Honor, can I ask defense counsel

_whaf page of the transcript?

MS. GROSSMAN: Sorry. That's page 37. Page 38,

actually, line five.

104

Q. Prior to your phone call with Mr. Charney did you have any

conversation with any other attorney who you understood to be

representing the plaintiffs in this case?

THE COURT: She asked you to read slowly.

MS. GROSSMAN: Sorry.,

Q. Prior to the phone call with Mr. Charney did you have any

questionsg with any other attorney who you understood to be
representing the plaintiffs.in this case?
A. I have had conversions in the past with Mr. Moore and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10

11
12
13
;4
15

le

17

18
19
20
21
22

23

24

25

: 105
C38AAFLOC Fagen - Cross '

Mr. Goodman but this was a number of years ago in the wake of

" the Daniels case.

THE COURT: So do you remember that answer?
A, Yes. I have met on occasion with Gbodman & Méore.' This
was to have lunch or to have é drink. We had a shafed mutual
interest and the question of this partiéular policy by city.
It wasn't about a specific case.

MR. CHARNEY: Can I just point out that the testimoﬁ?
that was ;ead says "in_the wake of".

'THE COURT: Yes, I saw that. I heéard that "in the

wake up".

MR. CHARNEY: Just to clarify the record.

THE COﬁRT: Thank you. I heard it.

MS. GROSSMAN: Thank you. I havé no further
questions. |

MR. CHARNEY: Can I ask one redirect?

THE COURT: Sure. o
BY MS. GROSSMAN: |
Q. Géing back to-the use of the arrest data, Professor Fagen,
ig it your testimony that you using arrest data to do an
analysis like thé one that was done in the Attorney General's
report, is it your opinion today_that that is ﬁnreliable data
uséd and therefore an unreliable methodology?
A. No, it's not unxeliable. It's less reliable than using
full comﬁliment of crime data.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10

11
12
13
14
15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23
24

25

| 106
C38AAFLOC Fagen - Cross
MR. CHARNEY: No other questions.
THE COURT: Okay. 1T think that closes the hearing.

We managed to get it accomplished by roughly five o'clock. I'm

- appreciate of that. Thank you.

'(Adjourned)
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